

Medication prescription to improve outcomes in advanced chronic kidney disease

Author: Cheng, Lap

Publication Date: 2021

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/2233

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/70731 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-04



Medication prescription to improve outcomes

in advanced chronic kidney disease

Lap Pui Cheng

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters of Science

Faculty of Medicine

2020

Thesis Title and Abstract

Thesis Title

Medication prescription to improve outcomes in advanced chronic kidney disease

Thesis Abstract

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a major public health issue affecting 10% of the global population and resulting in 1.2 million deaths. The risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality is inversely proportional to declining eGFR such that individuals with CKD are more likely to die, primarily due to a cardiovascular cause, than survive to the point of requiring dialysis. These poor outcomes are related to a myriad of factors including multimorbidity, medial vascular calcification and underlying haemostatic dysfunction.

Polypharmacy is a key consequence of the disease burden experienced by CKD patients. It is linked with poor adherence, adverse drug reactions, falls and increased hospitalisations. A post-hoc analysis of the CKD-FIX study was conducted to assess the prevalence and predictors of polypharmacy in CKD patients. It found that polypharmacy, defined as \geq 5 medications, and hyperpolypharmacy, defined as \geq 10 medications, were found in 77.5% and 34.3% of patients respectively. Age \geq 65 yrs, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and hyperlipidemia were independently associated with polypharmacy.

However, limiting polypharmacy via appropriate prescribing is hampered by the lack of data in patients with advanced CKD. Despite the disproportionate cardiovascular disease burden in CKD, the benefits and risks of dual antiplatelet therapy are not known. Therefore a systematic review of randomised controlled trials on the effectiveness of dual antiplatelet therapy in CKD was conducted. Nineteen trials with 27,308 participants were analysed with all but 3 trials excluding participants with dialysis-dependent kidney failure. Compared with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy significantly reduced the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events, myocardial infarction and stroke; but increased the risk of major bleeding. There was insufficient evidence to conclude whether patients with advanced stages of CKD and dialysis-dependent kidney failure derived benefit.

In conclusion, CKD patients represent an expanding population that is at high risk of adverse outcomes. Polypharmacy is common in patients with CKD and is related to age and multimorbidity. Further research on medication appropriateness and deprescribing are needed. In particular, adequately powered randomized trials are required to evaluate the effectiveness of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with advanced stages of CKD and cardiovascular disease.

Declarations

ORIGINALITY STATEMENT

☑ I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

✓ I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents a non-exclusive licence to archive and to make available (including to members of the public) my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known. I acknowledge that I retain all intellectual property rights which subsist in my thesis or dissertation, such as copyright and patent rights, subject to applicable law. I also retain the right to use all or part of my thesis or dissertation in future works (such as articles or books).

For any substantial portions of copyright material used in this thesis, written permission for use has been obtained, or the copyright material is removed from the final public version of the thesis.

AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT

☑ I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis.

Inclusions of Publications Statement

UNSW is supportive of candidates publishing their research results during their candidature as detailed in the UNSW Thesis Examination Procedure.

Publications can be used in the candidate's thesis in lieu of a Chapter provided:

- The candidate contributed greater than 50% of the content in the publication and are the "primary author", i.e. they were responsible primarily for the planning, execution and preparation of the work for publication.
- The candidate has obtained approval to include the publication in their thesis in lieu of a Chapter from their Supervisor and Postgraduate Coordinator.
- The publication is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in the thesis.

The candidate has declared that their thesis contains no publications, either published or submitted for publication.

Candidate's Declaration

I declare that I have complied with the Thesis Examination Procedure.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor A/Professor Sunil Badve for the constant support and guidance he has provided me over these last 2-3 years. I have been extremely lucky to have a supervisor who has been very patient with my many queries and who has cared so much about my work. I would also like to thank A/Professor Jardine and Professor Maree Hackett for their support and supervision through this time as well.

Contributions by others to the thesis

For chapter 2, Dr Badve and I conceived and designed the study. I conducted the statistical analysis with Dr Badve's assistance based on the data collected by Dr Badve and the other coauthors of the CKD-FIX trial (Elaine M. Pascoe, Anushree Tiku, Neil Boudville, Fiona G. Brown, Alan Cass, Philip Clarke, Nicola Dalbeth, Richard O. Day, Janak R. de Zoysa, Bettina Douglas, Randall Faull, David C. Harris, Carmel M. Hawley, Graham R.D. Jones, John Kanellis, Suetonia C. Palmer, Vlado Perkovic, Gopala K. Rangan, Donna Reidlinger, Laura Robison, Robert J. Walker, Giles Walters, and David W. Johnson). Dr Badve assisted with manuscript drafting and editing.

For chapter 3, Dr Badve and I conceived and designed the study together. Literature search, selection of studies and data extraction were carried out by me and supervised by Dr Badve and A/Professor Jardine. Data extraction was also independently carried out by Matthew Tong (MT). I conducted the statistical analysis and wrote the chapter. Dr Badve supervised the analysis and assisted with manuscript drafting and editing.

Table of Contents

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES 4
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
Chapter 1. INTRODUCTION 6
1.1 Global disease burden of chronic kidney disease
1.2 Risk factors for poor outcomes in CKD 6
1.3 Polypharmacy in CKD
1.4 Limitations of the currently available therapeutic interventions in CKD
1.5 Limitations and evidence for the currently available antiplatelet interventions in
CKD 10
1.6 Research objectives, method and outline of chapters 11
1.7 References 12
Chapter 2. POLYPHARMACY IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods
2.4 Results
2.5 Discussion
2.6 Perspectives
2.7 References

KANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIALS	••••••
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Methods	
3.4 Results	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Perspectives	
3.7 References	
Chapter 4. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	
4.1 Polypharmacy in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease of	at High Risk of CKD
Progression	
4.2 Benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy in chronic	c kidney disease: A
systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlle	ed trials
4.3 Future directions for clinical practice	
4.4 Future directions for clinical research	
4.5 Conclusion	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Number of daily medications
Figure 2.2. Number of daily medications by subgroup
Figure 3.1. PRISMA Flow Diagram Showing Selection of Studies
Figure 3.2. Treatment effects in trials comparing $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy
with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication
Figure 3.3 Treatment effects of dual antiplatelet therapy on bleeding outcomes
Figure 3.4 Summary of treatment effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy in
trials involving participants with non-dialysis CKD 46
Figure 3.5 Summary of treatment effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy
versus P2Y ₁₂ inhibitor monotherapy
Figure 3.6 Summary of treatment effects of clopidogrel-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus
P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy
Figure 3.7 Summary of treatment effects of dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy 49
Figure A3.1 Risk of bias assessment of the included studies
Figure A3.2 Summary of risk of bias assessment
Figure A3.3. Relative effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin
monotherapy or no study medication on major adverse cardiovascular events
Figure A3.4 Relative effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin
monotherapy or no study medication on myocardial infarction
Figure A3.5 Relative effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin
monotherapy or no study medication on stroke
Figure A3.6 Relative effects of P2Y ₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin
monotherapy or no study medication on major bleeding
Figure A3.7 Summary of treatment effects of dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy in
trials involving dialysis-dependent kidney failure

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Baseline characteristics	32
Table 2.2. Number of medications	33
Table 2.3. Multivariate logistic analysis of factors associated with polypharmacy and	
hyperpolypharmacy	34
Table 2.4. Commonly used medications according to the WHO ATC classification	35
Table 3.1 Characteristics of Included studies	58
Table A3.1 Electronic search strategy	70
Table A3.2 Certainty of evidence using the GRADE approach	71

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
ARB	angiotensin receptor blocker
ATC	anatomic therapeutic chemical
BD	twice daily
CI	confidence intervals
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CrCl	creatinine clearance
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and
	Evaluation
IQR	interquartile range
MI	myocardial infarction
mL	millilitres
OD	once daily
PTFE	polytetrafluoroethylene
RCT	randomised control trial
RR	risk ratio
SD	standard deviation
TDS	three times daily
UACR	urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio
WHO	World Health Organisation

Chapter 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Global disease burden of chronic kidney disease

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a major public health issue with approximately 10% of the global population affected and increasing to more than 50% in high-risk subpopulations such as those above 70 years of age (1,2). CKD is defined as at least 3 months of an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <60ml/min/1.73m2 and/or markers of kidney damage which include albuminuria, urine sediment abnormalities, abnormalities due to tubular disorders, abnormalities detected by histology or imaging, and history of kidney transplantation (3). Prevalence in Australian adults is estimated to be 1.7 million with majority of those in earlier stages of CKD (stages 1-3)(4), with approximately 3,000 Australians each year progressing to kidney failure requiring treatment either through kidney transplantation or dialysis (5). In 2018, CKD was the underlying cause, or was an associated cause, of 11% of deaths in Australia (4). In 2017, CKD resulted in 1.2 million deaths globally, a number which has been projected to rise to 2.2 - 4 million by 2040 (6).

1.2 Risk factors for poor outcomes in CKD

CKD is associated with significantly increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, even after adjustment for comorbid cardiovascular disease risk factors (7,8). Globally, 1.4 million deaths from cardiovascular disease were attributable to impaired kidney function (6). The risk of developing these outcomes is inversely proportional to absolute eGFR: compared to those with eGFR of 95 mL/min/1.73m², the risk of all-cause mortality is increased by 18%, 57% and 314% for eGFRs of 60, 45, and 15 mL/min per 1.73m², respectively. The impacts on cardiovascular mortality were similar (9). The rate of decline in eGFR is also correlated with negative outcomes with all-cause mortality increased by 25% in those with slope of -6 mL/min per 1.73m² per year compared with 0 mL/min per 1.73m² (10,11). Patients with CKD also have

more extensive coronary artery disease and experience poorer outcomes post-coronary revascularisation (12,13) or coronary artery bypass grafting (14,15). Furthermore, congestive heart failure, left ventricular hypertrophy, and arrhythmias frequently co-occur in patients with advanced CKD (16,17), defined as an eGFR <30mL/min/1.73m². Overall, cardiovascular causes account for approximately 50% of deaths in patients with CKD stage 4 and greater than 50% in those with CKD stage 5 or dialysis-dependent kidney failure (18).

The increased cardiovascular burden seen in patients with CKD likely reflects high prevalence of 'traditional' risk factors such as hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, diabetes mellitus, and advanced age (9,19). In 2019, 53% of Australians who were started on dialysis had type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 31% had coronary artery disease, 19% had peripheral vascular disease, and 10% had cerebrovascular disease (20). Patients with CKD also frequently feature 'non-traditional' risk factors including chronic inflammation, abnormal calcium-phosphorus metabolism, medial vascular calcification, anaemia, oxidative stress, and volume overload (9,21-24).

These factors are further compounded by a prothrombotic state that is thought to promote cardiovascular and thrombotic events. A meta-analysis of cohort studies found that the risk of stroke increased by 7% for every 10 mL/min/1.73 m² decrease in eGFR (25). Furthermore, patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure have a 61% higher risk of venous thromboembolism compared to those with normal kidney function (26), and up to 40% of arterio-venous fistula or grafts thrombose (27). Mechanisms of hypercoagulability include higher circulating levels of procoagulants such as factor VIII, von Willebrand factor, tissue factor, D-dimer, fibrinogen and plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (28-32), chronic inflammation (29), and erythropoietin therapy (33).

Paradoxically, patients with CKD are also at a greater risk of bleeding with a 9% increasing risk of haemorrhage per each 10 mL/min/1.73m² increase in eGFR (34). 14% of dialysis patients were found to have had a major haemorrhage within 3 years of dialysis

7

initiation (35). This bleeding diathesis is potentially related to impaired platelet adhesion, aggregation, activation, and vessel wall interaction. Patients with CKD have been previously found to have platelet dysfunction secondary to increased prostacyclin generation (36), decreased membrane expression of glycoprotein (GP) Ib (37), decreased thromboxane A₂ synthesis (38), decreased GPIIb/GPIIIa receptor expression and competitive binding to GPIIb/GPIIIa receptors by fibrinogen fragments or uraemic toxins (36,37). Abnormal von Willebrand factor, altered thrombin generation, abnormal endothelial function, and uraemic toxins such as phenol, phenolic acid and guanidinosuccinic acid could also impair platelet aggregation (37,39), predisposing to bleeding.

1.3 Polypharmacy in CKD

Polypharmacy, defined as daily intake of \geq 5 medications, has been recognised as an increasing global challenge by the World Health Organization. While the global prevalence has been difficult to estimate, it is expected to increase given that the population subset over the age of 65 years is predicted to double by 2050 (40). In 2017, 36% of Australians older than 70 years demonstrated polypharmacy, with the rate increasing to 46% for those between 85 and 89 years of age (41). Polypharmacy is associated with drug-drug interactions, poor medication adherence, as well as increased adverse drug reactions, falls, functional impairment, hospitalisations and health burden (42,43). It has been estimated that 2 - 3% of hospital admissions in Australia are medication-related, corresponding to 250,000 admissions per year, at a cost to the healthcare system of \$1.4 billion (44). In addition, up to 55% of people admitted to hospital over the age of 65 years were on a potentially inappropriate medication (45). Risk factors for polypharmacy are multiple and include patient-related and system-related factors. Patient-related factors include multimorbidity, chronic mental health conditions, multiple specialists, and being an aged care resident, and systems-related factors include poorly updated

medical records and transition of care, the development of a 'prescribing cascade', automatic prescription filling, and prescribing to fulfil disease specific guidelines (46-48).

In Europe, for people over the age of 65 years with advanced CKD, 91% experienced polypharmacy and 43% experienced hyperpolypharmacy (defined as daily intake of ≥ 10 medications) at rates three times higher than age-matched patients without CKD (49). Patients with CKD are prescribed a myriad of medications to mitigate symptoms, reduce progression of disease and address associated complications. This is likely attributable to several factors, including the multimorbidity with conditions such as diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidaemia, and hypertension, in addition to older age, higher body mass index, and smoking (50). Unsurprisingly, the number of medications increases conversely as eGFR declines (50,51).

Compared to the general population, patients with advanced CKD are also at higher risk of potential adverse drug reactions due to altered pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics. Despite this, there is limited evidence and guidance to assist with decisions regarding many commonly used drugs (52). It can therefore be challenging to balance over- and underprescribing appropriately while matching the needs of the patient with disease-specific clinical practice guidelines. For patients with advanced CKD, the appropriateness of interventions, particularly for coronary artery disease, is complicated by the lack of clinical trial data as those with advanced disease are either excluded or included in too few numbers to permit confident estimation of treatment benefits (53-55).

1.4 Limitations of the currently available therapeutic interventions in CKD

Overarching treatment of CKD is predominantly aimed at preventing progression, management of comorbidities, and managing complications such as anaemia, metabolic bone disease and acidosis (56). Medications with proven benefit for slowing CKD progression are limited to blood pressure agents such as angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) (57-61), and sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors (62,63). Despite long term use of ACE inhibitors and ARB in this population, benefit has not been proven with advanced CKD (64).

Similarly, agents to reduce cardiovascular risk and mortality are limited to medical management of cardiovascular risk factors (7,65) such as blood pressure lowering medications (66), statins (67), SGLT-2 inhibitors (62,63), and finerenone (68). Although used and recommended in all stages of CKD, blood pressure agents and statins only have known benefits in specific patient populations such as in non-dialysis dependent patients with CKD for statins (69), and beta-adrenergic antagonists in patients with CKD who have comorbid heart failure (70,71). Demonstrated benefits of SGLT-2 inhibitors and finerenone are also limited to those with eGFR >25 mL/min/1.73 m² and proteinuria (63,68). Phosphate binding agents in those with hyperphosphataemia and bicarbonate supplementation in those with metabolic acidosis are also recommended to manage complications of dialysis-dependent kidney failure despite inconsistent evidence of benefit (72-74).

1.5 Limitations and evidence for the currently available antiplatelet interventions in CKD

Dual antiplatelet therapy is the cornerstone of treatment for acute and chronic coronary artery disease. However, despite the disproportionate cardiovascular disease burden in patients with CKD, the decision to implement medical therapy is not straightforward. The risk-benefit profile for antiplatelet use in advanced CKD may differ compared to those without kidney disease due to their state of paradoxical haemostatic dysfunction and altered response to antiplatelet agents (75,76). Limited data suggests that clopidogrel responsiveness may be diminished in CKD independent of CYP2C19 polymorphism effects (77). The mechanisms are poorly understood but could be due to increased platelet turnover rate, poor bioavailability of the active clopidogrel metabolite, and alterations in procoagulant factors, thromboxane A2 and nitric oxide synthesis (78). The studies into the variable antiplatelet response to clopidogrel,

high residual platelet reactivity, and "clopidogrel resistance" have led to a focus on the more pharmacodynamically potent P2Y12 inhibitors ticagrelor and prasugrel (79,80). Ticagrelor remains promising in CKD as it is not renally cleared, does not require dose adjustment, and small studies have shown more rapid and greater platelet inhibition, compared with that of clopidogrel and prasugrel (81).

Observational data has suggested that antiplatelet therapy was associated with greater rates of hospitalisation for bleeding in dialysis patients (82). Although these findings may be confounded by the indication to use these agents, observational data in dialysis-dependent kidney failure has also shown an increased risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (83). Similarly, limited data from randomised control trials (RCT) suggests that clopidogrel may increase the risks of death and bleeding in CKD (84,85). For those in the general population with acute coronary syndrome, landmark clinical trials with ticagrelor and prasugrel have shown improved cardiovascular outcomes, albeit with an elevated bleeding risk (86,87). Registry data in CKD populations have again shown conflicting results; no difference was found in propensity adjusted data from PROMETHEUS (88), while a reduction in the cardiovascular composite outcome was found in SWEDEHEART (89). A previous systematic review found generally low quality evidence with uncertain effects on the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality, but increased risk of major bleeding (90). Therefore, it remains unclear whether indications for antiplatelet agents in advanced CKD and dialysis-dependent kidney failure may be extrapolated from data from the general population with the same expectation of benefit.

1.6 Research objectives, method and outline of chapters

The main research objectives of this thesis were to first, assess the prevalence and predictors of polypharmacy in patients with stage 3-4 CKD in the Australian population, and second, conduct a systematic review of randomised controlled trials on the effectiveness of dual

antiplatelet therapy in patients with CKD. The first study (chapter 2) presents a post-hoc analysis of the CKD-FIX trial which involved 369 adults with CKD stage 3 or 4 identified as being at risk of progression (either urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio \geq 265 mg/g or eGFR decrease \geq 3.0 mL/min/1.73m² in the preceding year). This study analysed the prevalence of polypharmacy and utilised multivariable logistic regression to explore predictors. The second study (chapter 3), presents a systematic review of the effectiveness of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with CKD.

1.7 References

- 1. Eckardt K-U, Coresh J, Devuyst O et al. Evolving importance of kidney disease: from subspecialty to global health burden. The Lancet 2013;382:158-69.
- 2. Thomas B, Matsushita K, Abate K et al. Global Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes of Reduced GFR. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2017;28.
- Levin A, Stevens PE, Bilous RW et al. Kidney disease: Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) CKD work group. KDIGO 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. Kidney international supplements 2013;3:1-150.
- 4. Chronic kidney disease. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health Welfare, 2020.
- 43rd Report, Chapter 1: Incidence of Renal Replacement Therapy for End Stage Kidney Disease. Adelaide, Australia: Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry, 2020.
- Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet 2020;395:709-733.
- Sarnak MJ, Amann K, Bangalore S et al. Chronic Kidney Disease and Coronary Artery Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2019;74:1823-1838.
- 8. Fox CS, Muntner P, Chen AY et al. Use of evidence-based therapies in short-term outcomes of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in patients with chronic kidney disease: a report from the National Cardiovascular Data Acute Coronary Treatment and Intervention Outcomes Network registry. Circulation 2010;121:357-365.

- 9. Matsushita K, van der Velde M, Astor BC et al. Association of estimated glomerular filtration rate and albuminuria with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in general population cohorts: a collaborative meta-analysis. Lancet 2010;375:2073-2081.
- Naimark DMJ, Grams ME, Matsushita K et al. Past Decline Versus Current eGFR and Subsequent Mortality Risk. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2016;27:2456.
- Coresh J, Turin TC, Matsushita K et al. Decline in Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate and Subsequent Risk of End-Stage Renal Disease and Mortality. JAMA 2014;311:2518-2531.
- Gurm HS, Lincoff AM, Kleiman NS et al. Double jeopardy of renal insufficiency and anemia in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions. Am J Cardiol 2004;94:30-34.
- 13. Charytan DM, Desai M, Mathur M et al. Reduced risk of myocardial infarct and revascularization following coronary artery bypass grafting compared with percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney International 2016;90:411-421.
- Hillis GS, Croal BL, Buchan KG et al. Renal function and outcome from coronary artery bypass grafting: impact on mortality after a 2.3-year follow-up. Circulation 2006;113:1056-1062.
- Cooper WA, O'Brien SM, Thourani VH et al. Impact of renal dysfunction on outcomes of coronary artery bypass surgery: results from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Adult Cardiac Database. Circulation 2006;113:1063-1070.
- 16. Cheung AK, Sarnak MJ, Yan G et al. Cardiac diseases in maintenance hemodialysis patients: results of the HEMO Study. Kidney Int 2004;65:2380-9.
- Zoccali C, Benedetto FA, Tripepi G et al. Left ventricular systolic function monitoring in asymptomatic dialysis patients: a prospective cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006;17:1460-1465.
- Gansevoort RT, Correa-Rotter R, Hemmelgarn BR et al. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular risk: epidemiology, mechanisms, and prevention. Lancet 2013;382:339-52.
- Parikh NI, Hwang S-J, Larson MG, Meigs JB, Levy D, Fox CS. Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Chronic Kidney Disease: Overall Burden and Rates of Treatment and Control. Archives of Internal Medicine 2006;166:1884-1891.
- 43rd Report, Chapter 3: Mortality in End Stage Kidney DIsease. Adelaide, Australia: Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry, 2020.

- Baber U, De Lemos JA, Khera A et al. Non-traditional risk factors predict coronary calcification in chronic kidney disease in a population-based cohort. Kidney International 2008;73:615-21.
- 22. He J, Reilly M, Yang W et al. Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Calcium Among Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease (from the Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study). The American Journal of Cardiology 2012;110:1735-41.
- Manjunath G, Tighiouart H, Ibrahim H et al. Level of kidney function as a risk factor for atherosclerotic cardiovascular outcomes in the community. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:47-55.
- 24. Muntner P, He J, Astor BC, Folsom AR, Coresh J. Traditional and Nontraditional Risk Factors Predict Coronary Heart Disease in Chronic Kidney Disease: Results from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:529-538.
- 25. Masson P, Webster AC, Hong M, Turner R, Lindley RI, Craig JC. Chronic kidney disease and the risk of stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 2015;30:1162-9.
- Irish AB, Viecelli AK, Hawley CM et al. Effect of Fish Oil Supplementation and Aspirin Use on Arteriovenous Fistula Failure in Patients Requiring Hemodialysis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med 2017;177:184-193.
- 27. Dixon BS, Beck GJ, Vazquez MA et al. Effect of dipyridamole plus aspirin on hemodialysis graft patency. N Engl J Med 2009;360:2191-201.
- Ocak G, Vossen CY, Lijfering WM et al. Role of Hemostatic Factors on the Risk of Venous Thrombosis in People With Impaired Kidney Function. Circulation 2014;129:683-691.
- 29. Segarra A, Chacón P, Martinez-Eyarre C et al. Circulating levels of plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1, tissue plasminogen activator, and thrombomodulin in hemodialysis patients: biochemical correlations and role as independent predictors of coronary artery stenosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001;12:1255-1263.
- Chitalia VC, Shivanna S, Martorell J et al. Uremic serum and solutes increase postvascular interventional thrombotic risk through altered stability of smooth muscle cell tissue factor. Circulation 2013;127:365-76.
- Adams MJ, Irish AB, Watts GF, Oostryck R, Dogra GK. Hypercoagulability in chronic kidney disease is associated with coagulation activation but not endothelial function. Thromb Res 2008;123:374-80.

- Peng Y, Liu H, Liu F et al. Atherosclerosis is associated with plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1 in chronic haemodialysis patients. Nephrology (Carlton) 2008;13:579-86.
- 33. Tobu M, Iqbal O, Fareed D et al. Erythropoietin-Induced Thrombosis as a Result of Increased Inflammation and Thrombin Activatable Fibrinolytic Inhibitor. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2004;10:225-232.
- Molnar AO, Bota SE, Garg AX et al. The Risk of Major Hemorrhage with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2016;27:2825-32.
- 35. Sood MM, Bota SE, McArthur E et al. The three-year incidence of major hemorrhage among older adults initiating chronic dialysis. Can J Kidney Health Dis 2014;1:21.
- 36. Morel O, Muller C, Jesel L, Moulin B, Hannedouche T. Impaired platelet P2Y12 inhibition by thienopyridines in chronic kidney disease: mechanisms, clinical relevance and pharmacological options. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2013;28:1994-2002.
- 37. Gawaz MP, Dobos G, Späth M, Schollmeyer P, Gurland HJ, Mujais SK. Impaired function of platelet membrane glycoprotein IIb-IIIa in end-stage renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 1994;5:36.
- Capodanno D, Angiolillo DJ. Antithrombotic therapy in patients with chronic kidney disease. Circulation 2012;125:2649-2661.
- Brophy DF, Martin EJ, Carr SL, Kirschbaum B, Carr ME. The effect of uremia on platelet contractile force, clot elastic modulus and bleeding time in hemodialysis patients. Thromb Res 2006;119:723-729.
- 40. Medication Safety in Polypharmacy. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2019.
- 41. Page AT, Falster MO, Litchfield M, Pearson SA, Etherton-Beer C. Polypharmacy among older Australians, 2006–2017: a population-based study. Med J Aust 2019;211:71-75.
- 42. Hsu KL, Fink JC, Ginsberg JS et al. Self-reported Medication Adherence and Adverse Patient Safety Events in CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 2015;66:621-629.
- Rawle MJ, Cooper R, Kuh D, Richards M. Associations Between Polypharmacy and Cognitive and Physical Capability: A British Birth Cohort Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2018;66:916-923.
- 44. Medicine Safety: Take Care. Canberra: Pharmaceutical Society of Australia, 2019.
- 45. Ní Chróinín D, Neto HM, Xiao D et al. Potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs) in older hospital in-patients: Prevalence, contribution to hospital admission and documentation of rationale for continuation. Australas J Ageing 2016;35:262-265.

- Halli-Tierney AD, Scarbrough C, Carroll D. Polypharmacy: Evaluating Risks and Deprescribing. Am Fam Physician 2019;100:32.
- Rochon PA, Gurwitz JH. The prescribing cascade revisited. The Lancet 2017;389:1778-1780.
- Scott IA, Hilmer SN, Reeve E et al. Reducing Inappropriate Polypharmacy: The Process of Deprescribing. JAMA Intern Med 2015;175:827-834.
- 49. Hayward S, Hole B, Denholm R et al. International prescribing patterns and polypharmacy in older people with advanced chronic kidney disease: results from the European Quality study. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation 2020.
- 50. Schmidt IM, Hubner S, Nadal J et al. Patterns of medication use and the burden of polypharmacy in patients with chronic kidney disease: the German Chronic Kidney Disease study. Clin Kidney J 2019;12:663-672.
- 51. Laville SM, Metzger M, Stengel B et al. Evaluation of the adequacy of drug prescriptions in patients with chronic kidney disease: results from the CKD-REIN cohort. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2018;84:2811-2823.
- 52. Matzke GR, Aronoff GR, Atkinson AJ et al. Drug dosing consideration in patients with acute and chronic kidney disease—a clinical update from Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO). Kidney Int 2011;80:1122-1137.
- 53. Konstantinidis I, Nadkarni GN, Yacoub R et al. Representation of Patients With Kidney Disease in Trials of Cardiovascular Interventions: An Updated Systematic Review. JAMA Internal Medicine 2016;176:121-124.
- 54. Zannad F, Rossignol P. Cardiovascular Outcome Trials in Patients With Advanced Kidney Disease. Circulation 2017;135:1769-1771.
- 55. Levin A, Tonelli M, Bonventre J et al. Global kidney health 2017 and beyond: a roadmap for closing gaps in care, research, and policy. The Lancet 2017;390:1888-1917.
- Chapter 3: Management of progression and complications of CKD. Kidney International Supplements 2013;3:73-90.
- 57. Fink HA. Screening for, Monitoring, and Treatment of Chronic Kidney Disease Stages 1 to 3: A Systematic Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force and for an American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. Ann Intern Med 2012;156:570.
- 58. Sharma P, Blackburn RC, Parke CL, McCullough K, Marks A, Black C. Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers for adults with early

(stage 1 to 3) non-diabetic chronic kidney disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011.

- 59. Brenner BM, Cooper ME, de Zeeuw D et al. Effects of Losartan on Renal and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. New England Journal of Medicine 2001;345:861-869.
- Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Bain RP, Rohde RD. The effect of angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibition on diabetic nephropathy. The Collaborative Study Group. N Engl J Med 1993;329:1456-1462.
- Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Clarke WR et al. Renoprotective Effect of the Angiotensin-Receptor Antagonist Irbesartan in Patients with Nephropathy Due to Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine 2001;345:851-860.
- 62. Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. The New England journal of medicine 2020;383:1436-1446.
- 63. Perkovic V, Jardine MJ, Neal B et al. Canagliflozin and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. N Engl J Med 2019;380:2295-2306.
- 64. Maione A, Navaneethan SD, Graziano G et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers and combined therapy in patients with microand macroalbuminuria and other cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2011;26:2827-2847.
- 65. Jun M, Lv J, Perkovic V, Jardine MJ. Managing cardiovascular risk in people with chronic kidney disease: a review of the evidence from randomized controlled trials. Ther Adv Chronic Dis 2011;2:265-278.
- 66. Agodoa L, Anderson C, Asselbergs FW et al. Blood pressure lowering and major cardiovascular events in people with and without chronic kidney disease: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2013;347:f5680-f5680.
- 67. Baigent C, Landray MJ, Reith C et al. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with simvastatin plus ezetimibe in patients with chronic kidney disease (Study of Heart and Renal Protection): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2011;377:2181-92.
- Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Anker SD et al. Effect of Finerenone on Chronic Kidney Disease Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine 2020.
- Palmer SC, Craig JC, Navaneethan SD, Tonelli M, Pellegrini F, Strippoli GFM.
 Benefits and harms of statin therapy for persons with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2012;157:263-275.

- Badve SV, Roberts MA, Hawley CM et al. Effects of Beta-Adrenergic Antagonists in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2011;58:1152-1161.
- House AA, Wanner C, Sarnak MJ et al. Heart failure in chronic kidney disease:
 conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO)
 Controversies Conference. Kidney International 2019;95:1304-1317.
- 72. Ruospo M, Palmer SC, Natale P et al. Phosphate binders for preventing and treating chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018.
- 73. Jamal SA, Vandermeer B, Raggi P et al. Effect of calcium-based versus non-calciumbased phosphate binders on mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 2013;382:1268-1277.
- 74. Di Iorio BR, Bellasi A, Raphael KL et al. Treatment of metabolic acidosis with sodium bicarbonate delays progression of chronic kidney disease: the UBI Study. J Nephrol 2019;32:989-1001.
- 75. Lutz J, Menke J, Sollinger D, Schinzel H, Thürmel K. Haemostasis in chronic kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2014;29:29-40.
- 76. Denker M, Boyle S, Anderson AH et al. Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort Study (CRIC): Overview and Summary of Selected Findings. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2015;10:2073-2083.
- 77. Jain N, Li X, Adams-Huet B et al. Differences in Whole Blood Platelet Aggregation at Baseline and in Response to Aspirin and Aspirin Plus Clopidogrel in Patients With Versus Without Chronic Kidney Disease. Am J Cardiol 2016;117:656-663.
- Htun P, Fateh-Moghadam S, Bischofs C et al. Low responsiveness to clopidogrel increases risk among CKD patients undergoing coronary intervention. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;22:627-33.
- 79. Tantry US, Bonello L, Aradi D et al. Consensus and Update on the Definition of On-Treatment Platelet Reactivity to Adenosine Diphosphate Associated With Ischemia and Bleeding. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;62:2261-2273.
- 80. Gurbel PA, Bliden KP, Butler K et al. Randomized double-blind assessment of the ONSET and OFFSET of the antiplatelet effects of ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with stable coronary artery disease: the ONSET/OFFSET study. Circulation 2009;120:2577-2585.

- Bonello L, Sibbing D, Angiolillo DJ, Aradi D. P2Y12-ADP Receptor Blockade in Chronic Kidney Disease Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes: Review of the Current Evidence. Circulation (New York, NY) 2018;138:1582.
- Chan KE, Lazarus JM, Thadhani R, Hakim RM. Anticoagulant and Antiplatelet Usage Associates with Mortality among Hemodialysis Patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20:872-881.
- Sood MM, Larkina M, Thumma JR et al. Major bleeding events and risk stratification of antithrombotic agents in hemodialysis: results from the DOPPS. Kidney Int 2013;84:600-608.
- 84. Best PJ, Steinhubl SR, Berger PB et al. The efficacy and safety of short- and long-term dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with mild or moderate chronic kidney disease: results from the Clopidogrel for the Reduction of Events During Observation (CREDO) trial. Am Heart J 2008;155:687-93.
- 85. Dasgupta A, Steinhubl SR, Bhatt DL et al. Clinical outcomes of patients with diabetic nephropathy randomized to clopidogrel plus aspirin versus aspirin alone (a post hoc analysis of the clopidogrel for high atherothrombotic risk and ischemic stabilization, management, and avoidance [CHARISMA] trial). Am J Cardiol 2009;103:1359-63.
- Wiviott SD, Braunwald E, McCabe CH et al. Prasugrel versus Clopidogrel in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes. New England Journal of Medicine 2007;357:2001-2015.
- Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A et al. Ticagrelor versus Clopidogrel in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes. New England Journal of Medicine 2009;361:1045-1057.
- 88. Baber U, Chandrasekhar J, Sartori S et al. Associations Between Chronic Kidney Disease and Outcomes With Use of Prasugrel Versus Clopidogrel in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: A Report From the PROMETHEUS Study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017;10:2017-2025.
- Edfors R, Sahlén A, Szummer K et al. Outcomes in patients treated with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel after acute myocardial infarction stratified by renal function. Heart 2018;104:1575-1582.
- 90. Palmer SC, Di Micco L, Razavian M et al. Effects of antiplatelet therapy on mortality and cardiovascular and bleeding outcomes in persons with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2012;156:445-459.

Chapter 2. POLYPHARMACY IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

2.1 Abstract

Introduction: Polypharmacy is common in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). We conducted a post-hoc analysis of the CKD-FIX trial to study the prevalence and predictors of polypharmacy in patients with CKD at high risk of CKD progression.

Methods: The CKD-FIX trial involved 369 adults with CKD stage 3 or 4, no history of gout, and who were at risk of progression (identified by either urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio [UACR] \geq 265 mg/g or eGFR decrease \geq 3.0 mL/min/1.73 m² in the preceding year). Polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy were defined as \geq 5 and \geq 10 medications per day, respectively, including non-oral and non-prescription medications. The predictors of polypharmacy were evaluated using multivariable logistic regression.

Results: Data on medication use at baseline were available in 362 patients (mean age 62.4 years (\pm 12.7 SD); mean eGFR 31.8 mL/min/1.73 m² (\pm 12.0 SD); median UACR 719.6 mg/g (IQR 244.3, 1855); diabetes 58%; cardiovascular disease 34%). The prevalence of polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy were 77.6% (281 patients of 362) and 34.3% (124 patients of 362) respectively and did not differ according to CKD stage or albuminuria. The median number of daily medications was 8 (IQR 5, 11). The most commonly used medications were antihypertensive agents, statins, diuretics, antithrombotic agents and proton pump inhibitors. Variables of age \geq 65 yrs, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and hyperlipidaemia, were each independently associated with polypharmacy.

Conclusion: Polypharmacy is common in patients with CKD at high risk of CKD progression. Further research on medication appropriateness and deprescribing are needed in this patient population.

2.2 Introduction

Polypharmacy, defined as regular use of at least 5 medications per day, is a growing problem in at-risk patient populations, including chronic kidney disease (CKD) (1-3). Polypharmacy is associated with clinical outcomes ranging from adverse drug reactions, medication errors, medication nonadherence, falls, hospitalisations, death and increased healthcare costs (4-7). Common risk-factors for polypharmacy include advanced age, lack of a primary care physician, multiple chronic conditions and involvement of multiple specialists in care (4,8). These risk factors are highly prevalent in patients with CKD. Patients with CKD are at a greater risk of disease progression, cardiovascular events, and death. The excess risk of cardiovascular and kidney-related outcomes in CKD is due to the high prevalence of risk factors, such as advanced age, hypertension, diabetes, proteinuria, hyperlipidaemia and coexisting cardiovascular disease. In addition, several non-traditional risk factors, such as hyperuricemia and hyperphosphataemia are highly prevalent in this patient population. These patients are often prescribed medications that are aimed at preventing cardiovascular and kidney-related outcomes, including proven and unproven treatments. There is a need for improved delineation of polypharmacy in patients with CKD, especially those at high risk of CKD progression, so that interventions to systematically address this problem be evaluated and implemented appropriately. This post-hoc analysis of the Controlled Trial of Slowing of Kidney Disease Progression from the Inhibition of Xanthine Oxidase (CKD-FIX) aimed to evaluate the prevalence, pattern and risk factors of polypharmacy in patients with CKD.

2.3 Methods

The CKD-FIX trial was an investigator-initiated, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial that was conducted by the Australasian Kidney Trials Network (University of Queensland) at 31 centres in Australia and New Zealand (Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry number, ACTRN12611000791932). Patients were all recruited from renal units providing comprehensive CKD care. The study protocol was approved by ethics committees at all participating sites in Australia, and the Northern Region A Health and Disability Ethics Committee for sites in New Zealand. All patients provided written informed consent prior to participation in the trial.

The main findings of the CKD-FIX trial have been published elsewhere (9). Briefly, between 21 March 2014 and 31 December 2016, 369 adults with stage 3 or 4 CKD and an elevated risk of progression to kidney failure were randomized to allopurinol (100-300 mg daily) or placebo. An elevated progression risk was defined as urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio ≥ 265 mg/g (≥ 30 mg/mmol) or decrease in estimated glomerular filtration rate ≥ 3.0 mL/min/1.73 m² in the preceding 12 months (calculated as the difference between the first and last of at least 3 estimated glomerular filtration rate tests, each test done at least 4 weeks apart). Patients meeting these criteria have been shown to be at a substantially increased risk of progression to kidney failure (10,11). Key exclusion criteria were history of gout, allopurinol hypersensitivity, clinical indication for allopurinol and unresolved acute kidney injury in the previous 3 months. Eligible patients were randomly assigned to receive allopurinol or placebo in a 1:1 ratio with an adaptive allocation algorithm. Patients were followed for 104 weeks. The primary outcome of the CKD-FIX trial was the change in the eGFR from baseline to 104 weeks.

Data on patient demographic characteristics, comorbidities and concomitant medications at baseline were collected at the randomization visit. Polypharmacy was defined as the use of 5 or more chronic medications, and hyperpolypharmacy as the use of 10 or more medications. Medications administered by a non-oral route and over the counter medications were also included in medication count. Apart from inhalers, combination medications were counted separately if their components had a clinical indication to be prescribed in their individual forms. Data on the number of pills were not collected. Medications were classified according to the World Health Organization Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system (12).

22

Statistical analysis

This post-hoc analysis included only the baseline data collected at the randomization visit. Results were reported as frequencies (percentages) for categorical variables, mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for continuous normally distributed variables, and median (interquartile range [IQR]) for continuous, non-normally distributed variables. Data was assessed for normality using Skewness and Kurtosis measures. The Mann-Whitney test was used to determine differences in the number of medications and patient sub-groups. The predictors of polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy were evaluated using multivariable logistic regression. The variables included in the multivariable logistic regression were age (dichotomised as < 65 yr or \geq 65 yr), sex, race, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease and hyperlipidaemia. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata/MP (version 16.1, StataCorp, College Station, Texas).

2.4 Results

Patient characteristics

Data on medications at baseline were available for 362 of 369 (98.1%) randomized patients. Baseline characteristics of the study population are described in Table 2.1. The mean age was 62.4 years, with 175 (48.3%) patients \geq 65 years of age. Self-reported ethnicity was Caucasian in 272 (75.1%) patients. At baseline, 209 (57.7%) patients had diabetes mellitus, 122 (33.7%) had cardiovascular disease, and 267 (73.8%) patients had hyperlipidaemia. Mean eGFR was 31.8 mL/min/1.73 m²; 178 (49.2%) and 184 (50.8%) patients had CKD stage 3 and stage 4, respectively. The median urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratio was 716.9 mg/g, and 253 (70.9%) patients had urinary albumin-to-creatinine ratios \geq 300 mg/g.

Number of medications and polypharmacy

The median number of medications taken daily was 8 (IQR 5, 11) (see Figure 2.1, Table 2.2). The median number of daily medications was greater in those \geq 65 years of age, and those with diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease and/or hyperlipidaemia (see Figure 2.2).

Figure 2.1. Number of daily medications





Figure 2.2. Number of daily medications by subgroup

Number of daily medications by subgroups

There was no significant difference in the number of daily medications by patient sex, ethnicity, CKD stage, or albuminuria. At baseline, 77.6% (281 patients of 362) and 34.3% (124 patients of 362) were receiving \geq 5 and \geq 10 medications per day, respectively. The prevalence of polypharmacy was greater among those over the age of 65 years (87.4%), non-Caucasian race (86.7%), and those with diabetes mellitus (91.9%), cardiovascular disease (94.3%), or hyperlipidaemia (86.1%). The prevalence of hyperpolypharmacy was greater among those aged over 65 years (44.6%), and in those with diabetes mellitus (50.2%), cardiovascular disease (55.7%), or hyperlipidaemia (41.6%).

On multivariable logistic regression (Table 2.3), age ≥ 65 years (OR 2.05; 95% CI 1.09, 3.84), diabetes mellitus (OR 5.11; 95% CI 2.69, 9.70), cardiovascular disease (OR 4.08; 95% CI

1.70, 9.79) and hyperlipidaemia (OR 3.23; 95% CI 1.77, 5.88) were independently associated with polypharmacy. Diabetes mellitus (OR 5.88; 95% CI 3.21, 10.78), cardiovascular disease (OR 3.13; 95% CI 1.83, 5.34) and hyperlipidaemia (OR 2.55; 95% CI 1.27, 5.12) were independently associated with hyperpolypharmacy. Age \geq 65 years was not associated with hyperpolypharmacy.

Medications

Excluding glucose-lowering medications (Table 2.4), the most prescribed medications were blood pressure-lowering medications (341 patients, 94.2%), statins (261 patients, 72.1%) and diuretics other than mineralocorticoid-receptor antagonists (146 patients, 40.3%). Only 102 patients (28.2%) were treated with a single blood pressure-lowering medication, whereas 112 patients (30.9%), 94 patients (26%), 29 patients (8%) and 4 patients (1.1%) were treated with a combination of 2, 3, 4 or 5 blood pressure-lowering medications, respectively. Among the inhibitors of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, 146 patients (40.3%) were treated with ACE inhibitors, 130 patients (35.9%) with angiotensin-receptor inhibitor and 21 patients with (5.8%) mineralocorticoid-receptor antagonists. Next commonly prescribed medications were antithrombotic medications in 182 patients (50.3%) and proton-pump inhibitors in 130 patients (35.9%). Single- and dual-antiplatelet therapies were prescribed in 135 (37.3%) and 24 (6.6%) patients, respectively, whereas anticoagulant agents were prescribed in 25 patients (6.9%). Among 209 patients with diabetes mellitus, 186 patients (89%) were prescribed at least two glucose-lowering medications.

2.5 Discussion

This post-hoc analysis of the CKD-FIX trial found that polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy were highly prevalent in patients with CKD stages 3 and 4 with elevated progression risk. The observed high prevalence of polypharmacy in this population was due to old age and the presence of multiple co-existing chronic conditions such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease and hyperlipidaemia. Previous studies have identified polypharmacy in patients with CKD with mean or median number of daily medications ranging between 8 and 11, and prevalence estimates ranging between 60% to 97% for polypharmacy, and 16% to 63% for hyperpolypharmacy (1,2,13,14). Similar to the German Chronic Kidney Disease study, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and hyperlipidaemia were independently associated with polypharmacy (2). However, CKD stage was not associated with polypharmacy in the current study. This could have been a result of the small sample size. Alternatively, selection bias should be considered given that the CKD-FIX cohort were enrolled on the high progression criterion and as such, did not include patients with stage CKD 1 and 2 and therefore do not represent the wider CKD population. As expected, blood pressure-lowering medications and cardiovascular treatments such as lipid-lowering and antithrombotic medications were the most prescribed medications.

Considering the association between polypharmacy and clinical outcomes, the results of the current study have several important clinical and research implications. There is a need to deprescribe medications that are not beneficial or those with uncertain benefit-risk profile. For example, despite the high burden of cardiovascular disease, anticoagulant and antiplatelet agents have not been systematically evaluated in patients with advanced stages of CKD. The CKD-FIX trial showed that urate-lowering treatment with allopurinol did not slow decline in eGFR, despite the wide use of urate-lowering in CKD and asymptomatic hyperuricemia (15). On the other hand, recent studies have shown that sodium–glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors and nonsteroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist finerenone reduce a variety of renal and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with CKD and high risk factors for progression that were similar to the CKD-FIX population (16-18).

Despite their benefits, the use of these medications add to the burden of polypharmacy, thus highlighting the need to be pragmatic in medication optimisation by choosing treatments that provide the greatest benefit with smallest harm while also considering the concept of diminishing returns (19). Shared decision making with patients optimises medication use for the best possible outcomes, but again requires clear information about treatment outcomes. Therefore, further research on medication appropriateness, deprescribing, and prescribing of omitted therapies is needed in order to bolster the limited evidence for CKD medication guidelines. Further research evaluating the safety and efficacy combination polypills would also be informative.

An additional challenge facing medication rationalisation is determining who is responsible for co-ordinating and implementing any changes. Depending on the patient's stage of CKD, comorbidities, and healthcare arrangements, the recognition and management of polypharmacy may lie primarily with the nephrologist/renal centre, other medical specialist, the primary care provider and/or the community pharmacist. A single provider could see significantly increased workload, however if multiple health practitioners are involved without a designated co-ordinator this may lead to fragmentation of care. For those in renal centres, medication audits or reviews co-ordinated by a clinical pharmacist could be considered, as it has been shown to have benefit in those on haemodialysis to reduce medication use and hospitalisations (20). Similarly, reviews by the community pharmacist as part of the Medicare funded Domiciliary Medication Management Review in Australia have been shown to have some positive impacts on inappropriate prescribing, cost of healthcare provisions, and patient medication literacy (21,22). Further research into the impact of these types of multidisciplinary intervention on medication rationalisation should be conducted.

The strengths of this analysis include systematically collected data for a randomized controlled trial and the use of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system. These strengths need to be balanced against its limitations. Unfortunately, as the participant number was small and did not include patients in all stages of CKD, findings cannot be generalised to a wider CKD population. Furthermore, pill count data was lacking. This can be a risk factor for low medication adherence and poorer quality of life, especially in those prescribed phosphate-binders (23,24). Moreover, this analysis did not include an evaluation of

medication appropriateness, which would be beneficial to assess prescription patterns. It would also assist with deprescription by identifying medications of inadequate clinical benefit, at increased risk for adverse reactions, or those which require renal dose adjustment.

In summary, polypharmacy is common in patients with CKD at high risk of CKD progression and associated with old age and co-existing chronic conditions. Further research on medication appropriateness and deprescribing are needed in this patient population.

2.6 Perspectives

Competency in medical knowledge: Polypharmacy was highly prevalent in patients with chronic kidney disease stages 3 or 4 who were at risk of progression. Older age, diabetics, cardiovascular disease, and hyperlipidaemia were each independently associated with polypharmacy. Clinicians should recognise the importance of medication reconciliation in reducing the burden of polypharmacy in this comorbid population.

Translational outlook: Further research on medication appropriateness, deprescription, and the effectiveness of medication reconciliation are needed in this patient population.

2.7 References

- Hayward S, Hole B, Denholm R et al. International prescribing patterns and polypharmacy in older people with advanced chronic kidney disease: results from the European Quality study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2020.
- Schmidt IM, Hübner S, Nadal J et al. Patterns of medication use and the burden of polypharmacy in patients with chronic kidney disease: the German Chronic Kidney Disease study. Clin Kidney J 2019;12:663-672.
- Aubert CE, Streit S, Da Costa BR et al. Polypharmacy and specific comorbidities in university primary care settings. Eur J Intern Med 2016;35:35-42.
- Goldberg RM, Mabee J, Chan L, Wong S. Drug-drug and drug-disease interactions in the ED: analysis of a high-risk population. Am J Emerg Med 1996;14:447-50.

- Ahmed B, Nanji K, Mujeeb R, Patel MJ. Effects of polypharmacy on adverse drug reactions among geriatric outpatients at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi: a prospective cohort study. PLoS One 2014;9:e112133.
- 6. Frazier SC. Health outcomes and polypharmacy in elderly individuals: an integrated literature review. J Gerontol Nurs 2005;31:4-11.
- Hsu KL, Fink JC, Ginsberg JS et al. Self-reported Medication Adherence and Adverse Patient Safety Events in CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 2015;66:621-9.
- Halli-Tierney AD, Scarbrough C, Carroll D. Polypharmacy: Evaluating Risks and Deprescribing. Am Fam Physician 2019;100:32-38.
- Badve SV, Pascoe EM, Tiku A et al. Effects of Allopurinol on the Progression of Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med 2020;382:2504-2513.
- Gansevoort RT, Matsushita K, van der Velde M et al. Lower estimated GFR and higher albuminuria are associated with adverse kidney outcomes. A collaborative metaanalysis of general and high-risk population cohorts. Kidney international 2011;80:93-104.
- Astor BC, Matsushita K, Gansevoort RT et al. Lower estimated glomerular filtration rate and higher albuminuria are associated with mortality and end-stage renal disease. A collaborative meta-analysis of kidney disease population cohorts. Kidney Int 2011;79:1331-1340.
- 12. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology, Guidelines for ATC classification and DDD assignment 2020. Oslo, Norway, 2019.
- Secora A, Alexander GC, Ballew SH, Coresh J, Grams ME. Kidney Function, Polypharmacy, and Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in a Community-Based Cohort of Older Adults. Drugs Aging 2018;35:735-750.
- Sommer J, Seeling A, Rupprecht H. Adverse Drug Events in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease Associated with Multiple Drug Interactions and Polypharmacy. Drugs Aging 2020;37:359-372.
- 15. Jing J, Kielstein JT, Schultheiss UT et al. Prevalence and correlates of gout in a large cohort of patients with chronic kidney disease: the German Chronic Kidney Disease (GCKD) study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2015;30:613-21.
- Perkovic V, Jardine MJ, Neal B et al. Canagliflozin and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes and Nephropathy. N Engl J Med 2019;380:2295-2306.
- 17. Heerspink HJL, Stefánsson BV, Correa-Rotter R et al. Dapagliflozin in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. N Engl J Med 2020;383:1436-1446.
- Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Anker SD et al. Effect of Finerenone on Chronic Kidney Disease Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine 2020.
- Mold JW, Hamm RM, McCarthy LH. The law of diminishing returns in clinical medicine: how much risk reduction is enough? J Am Board Fam Med 2010;23:371-375.
- 20. Pai AB, Boyd A, Depczynski J, Chavez IM, Khan N, Manley H. Reduced Drug Use and Hospitalization Rates in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis Who Received Pharmaceutical Care: A 2-Year, Randomized, Controlled Study. Pharmacotherapy 2009;29:1433-1440.
- 21. McCormick P, Chennells R, Coleman B, Bates I. The outcome of domiciliary medication reviews and their impact: a systematic review. The International journal of pharmacy practice 2020;28:417-427.
- Ahn J, Park J, Anthony C, Burke M. Understanding, benefits and difficulties of home medicines review – patients' perspectives. Australian Family Physician 2015;44:249-253.
- Chiu Y-W, Teitelbaum I, Misra M, de Leon EM, Adzize T, Mehrotra R. Pill Burden, Adherence, Hyperphosphatemia, and Quality of Life in Maintenance Dialysis Patients. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2009;4:1089.
- 24. Mechta Nielsen T, Frøjk Juhl M, Feldt-Rasmussen B, Thomsen T. Adherence to medication in patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review of qualitative research. Clinical kidney journal 2018;11:513-527.

Characteristic	Total (N=362)
Age - yr	62.4 (±12.7)
Age ≥65 yr - n (%)	175 (48.3%)
Female sex - n (%)	135 (37.3%)
Race or ethnic group - n (%) †	
White	272 (75.1%)
Australian Aboriginal/ Torres Strait Islander	4 (1.1%)
New Zealand Māori	28 (7.7%)
Asian	18 (5%)
Other	40 (11.1%)
Body-mass index - kg/m ² (IQR) ‡	30 (26, 36)
Blood pressure	
Systolic - mm Hg	139.2 (±19.1)
Diastolic - mm Hg	76.6 (±11.6)
Primary cause of kidney disease - n (%)	
Diabetic kidney disease	164 (45.3%)
Non-diabetic kidney disease	198 (54.7%)
Diabetes mellitus - n (%)	209 (57.7%)
Cardiovascular disease - n (%)	122 (33.7%)
Hyperlipidemia - n (%)	267 (73.8%)
Smoking - n (%)	
Never smoked	157 (43.4%)
Previous smoker	168 (46.4%)
Current smoker	37 (10.2%)
eGFR - mL/min/1.73 m ²	31.8 (±12.0)
Stage 3	178 (49.2%)
Stage 4	184 (50.8%)
Median urinary ACR - mg/g (IQR) §	716.9 (244.3, 1855)
<30 - n (%)	37 (10.4%)
≥30-300 - n (%)	67 (18.7%)
≥300 - n (%)	253 (70.9%)
Serum urate - mg/dL #	8.2 (±1.7)

Table 2.1. Baseline characteristics

* Plus–minus values are means ±SD. IQR, interquartile range. ACR, albumin-to-creatinine ratio; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

[†] Race and ethnic group were reported by the patients.

[‡] The body-mass index is the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in meters. Data were missing for 5 patients.

 \Box Data were missing for 1 patient.

¶ Scores on the 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) quality-of-life summary score range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better quality of life. Data were missing for 1 patient.

§ Data were missing for 5 patients.

Data were missing for 11 patients.

Characteristic	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)	Range	Polypharmacy	Hyperpolypharmacy
				n (%)	n (%)
All patients	8.0 (4.2)	8 (5, 11)	0 - 26	281 (77.6%)	124 (34.3%)
Age group					
<65 yr	6.9 (3.8)	6 (4, 9)	0 - 18	128 (68.5%)	46 (24.6%)
≥65 yr	9.3 (4.1)	9 (7, 12)	1 - 26	153 (87.4%)	78 (44.6%)
Sex					
Men	7.7 (3.7)	8 (5, 10)	0 - 18	176 (77.5%)	74 (32.6%)
Women	8.5 (4.7)	8 (5, 12)	1 - 26	105 (77.8%)	50 (37%)
Race					
White	7.9 (4.2)	8 (4, 11)	0 - 26	203 (74.6%)	91 (33.5%)
Non-White	8.5 (3.9)	9 (6, 10)	1 - 22	78 (86.7%)	33 (36.7%)
Diabetes mellitus					
No	5.7 (3.4)	5 (3, 8)	0 - 18	89 (58.2%)	19 (12.4%)
Yes	9.7 (3.9)	10 (7, 12)	1 - 26	192 (91.9%)	105 (50.2%)
Cardiovascular disease					
No	6.9 (3.9)	7 (4, 9)	0 - 26	166 (69.2%)	56 (23.3%)
Yes	10.2 (3.8)	10 (8, 12)	2 - 22	115 (94.3%)	68 (55.7%)
Hyperlipidemia					
No	5.6 (3.4)	5 (3, 8)	0 - 17	51 (53.7%)	13 (13.7%)
Yes	8.9 (4.1)	9 (6, 11)	1 - 26	230 (86.1%)	111 (41.6%)
CKD stage					
Stage 3	8.0 (4.3)	8 (5, 11)	0 - 26	138 (77.5%)	60 (33.7%)
Stage 4	8.1 (4.0)	8 (5, 11)	1 - 22	143 (77.2%)	64 (34.8%)
Urinary ACR in mg/g					
< 30 - n (%)	8.0 (3.9)	8 (5, 11)	2 - 18	29 (78.4%)	11 (29.7%)
≥ 30-300 - n (%)	7.7 (4.4)	7 (4, 11)	1 – 19	45 (67.2%)	22 (32.8%)
≥ 300 - n (%)	8.1 (4.1)	8 (5, 11)	0-26	203 (80.2%)	89 (35.2%)

 Table 2.2.
 Number of medications

Clinical characteristic	Polypharmacy	Hyperpolypharmacy
	Odds ratio (95% CI), P value	Odds ratio (95% CI), P value
Age group		
< 65 yr	Reference	Reference
\geq 65 yr	2.05 (1.09, 3.84), P = 0.026	1.67 (0.99, 2.81), P = 0.055
Sex		
Men	Reference	Reference
Women	1.43 (0.78, 2.65), P = 0.248	1.76 (1.03, 3.01), P = 0.039
Race		
Non-Caucasian	Reference	Reference
Caucasian	0.61 (0.28, 1.33), P = 0.212	1.51 (0.83, 2.75), P = 0.177
Diabetes mellitus		
No	Reference	Reference
Yes	5.11 (2.69, 9.70), P < 0.001	5.88 (3.21, 10.78), P < 0.001
Cardiovascular disease		
No	Reference	Reference
Yes	4.08 (1.70, 9.79), P = 0.002	3.13 (1.83, 5.34), P < 0.001
Hyperlipidemia		
No	Reference	Reference
Yes	3.23 (1.77, 5.88), P < 0.001	2.55 (1.27, 5.12), P = 0.008

Table 2.3. Multivariate logistic analysis of factors associated with polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy

Medication	Number of patients (%)				
A: ALIMENTARY TRACT AND METABOLISM					
A02 Drugs for acid related disorders					
Proton pump inhibitor	130 (35.9%)				
Sodium bicarbonate †	34 (9.4%)				
A10 Drugs used in diabetes *					
A10A Insulins and analogues	130/209 (62.2%)				
A10B Blood glucose lowering drugs, excl. insulins					
Sulfonylurea	49/209 (23.4%)				
Biguanide	62/209 (29.7%)				
DPP-4 inhibitor	27/209 (12.9%)				
SGLT2 inhibitor	4/209 (2%)				
GLP-1 receptor agonist	2/209 (1%)				
A11 Vitamins					
Vitamin supplement (excluding vitamin D and analogues)	37 (10.2%)				
Nutritional vitamin D	88 (24.3%)				
Calcitriol	21 (5.8%)				
A12 Mineral supplements					
Calcium	43 (11.9%)				
Potassium	7 (1.9%)				
Magnesium	32 (8.8%)				
B: BLOOD AND BLOOD FORMING ORGANS					
B01 Antithrombotic agents					
Anticoagulants	25 (6.9%)				
Antiplatelet agents	159 (43.9%				
B03 Antianemic preparations					
Erythropoiesis stimulating agent	28 (7.7%)				
C: CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM					
C02 Antihypertensives					
Antiadrenergic agents, centrally acting	39 (10.8%)				
Alpha-adrenoreceptor antagonists	58 (16%)				
Agents acting on arteriolar smooth muscle	21 (5.8%)				
C03 Diuretics					

Table 2.4. Commonly used medications according to the WHO ATC classification

Medication	Number of patients (%)
Thiazides and loop diuretics	146 (40.3%)
Spironolactone	21 (5.8%)
C07 Beta blocking agents	137 (37.9%)
C08 Calcium channel blockers	
Dihydropyridine derivatives	160 (44.2%)
Selective calcium channel blockers with direct cardiac effects	53 (14.6%)
C09 Agents acting on the renin-angiotensin system	
ACE inhibitors	146 (40.3%)
Angiotensin II receptor blockers	130 (35.9%)
C10 Lipid modifying agents	
HMG CoA reductase inhibitors	261 (72.1%)
Fibrates	21 (5.8%)
N: NERVOUS SYSTEM	
N02 Analgesics	
Opioids	29 (8%)
Other analgesics and antipyretics (e.g. paracetamol)	69 (19.1%)
N03 Antiepileptics	28 (7.7%)
N06 Psychoanaleptics (antidepressants)	55 (15.2%)
V: VARIOUS	
Sodium or Calcium polystyrene sulfonate	16 (4.4%)

 * The proportion of glucose-lowering medication is calculated among 209 patients with diabetes mellitus.
 * Although sodium bicarbonate is classified as an antacid according to the ATC classification system, it is likely to be used for the correction of metabolic acidosis in patients with CKD.

Chapter 3. BENEFITS AND HARMS OF DUAL ANTIPLATELET THERAPY IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIALS

3.1 Abstract

Background: Despite the high burden of cardiovascular disease in chronic kidney disease (CKD), the effects of dual antiplatelet therapy in this population are uncertain.

Objectives: The aim of this systematic review was to study the benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy in CKD.

Methods: Medline, Embase and Cochrane databases were searched for randomized controlled trials with \geq 3 months follow-up in patients with CKD stages 3 to 5 or proteinuria that reported efficacy and/or bleeding outcomes. Treatment effects were summarized using random-effects analysis.

Results: Fifteen trials comparing P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual therapy with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based monotherapy or dual therapy, and four trials evaluating dipyridamole-based dual therapy were included. All but 3 trials excluded participants with dialysis-dependent kidney failure. Compared with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy significantly reduced the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events (RR 0.89; 95% CI 0.81, 0.98), myocardial infarction (RR 0.75; 95% CI 0.59, 0.91) and stroke (RR 0.73; 95% CI 0.52, 0.95), but increased the risk of major bleeding (RR 1.60; 95% CI 1.19, 2.01). There were no differences in the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events (RR 0.86; 95% CI 0.61, 1.11) and major bleeding (RR 1.19; 95% CI 0.82, 1.57) between clopidogrel-based and ticagrelor- or prasugrel-based dual antiplatelet therapies.

Conclusions: Dual antiplatelet therapy improved cardiovascular outcomes in patients with early stages of CKD. However, there is insufficient evidence to conclude whether patients with advanced stages of CKD and kidney failure derive benefit from dual antiplatelet therapy.

3.2 Introduction

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a major public health problem affecting approximately 15% of the US adult population or 37 million adults (1). More than 500,000 people are currently receiving dialysis for kidney failure (2). Compared with the general population, people with CKD are at a greater risk of cardiovascular events and associated mortality (3,4). The risk of major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) increases with decreasing estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (3,5). The presence of CKD is one of the most potent known risk factors for cardiovascular disease with a cardiovascular cause accounting for up to 50% of all deaths in patients with CKD stages 4-5 and 60% of deaths in patients with kidney failure receiving dialysis (6). Individuals with CKD are more likely to die, primarily due to cardiovascular disease, than survive to the point of requiring dialysis (7,8). The excess cardiovascular risk factors, such as hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and diabetes (9,10). In addition, non-traditional risk factors such as chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, medial arterial calcification, bone mineral disorder and hypercoagulability may also contribute to the elevated cardiovascular risk (10,11).

Dual antiplatelet therapy is a core intervention in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events in patients with acute coronary syndrome and those undergoing coronary artery stenting (12-14). However, patients with advanced stages of CKD and kidney failure are less likely to receive established cardiovascular interventions, including clopidogrel (15). The low rates of antiplatelet therapy use in CKD may be due to the increased risk of bleeding (16). The risk of major bleeding increases linearly with worsening eGFR and albuminuria. This risk is aggravated further with the incremental use of antithrombotic agents (17). The exclusion of patients with CKD from nearly 60% of trials evaluating antiplatelet therapy has contributed to uncertainty about the role of antiplatelet therapy in CKD (18). This systematic review aimed to evaluate the benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy on clinical endpoints in patients with CKD stages 3 to 5, including those on dialysis.

3.3 Methods

The systematic review was conducted in accordance to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement (19). The protocol of this systematic review was prospectively registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO).¹

Search Strategy, study selection, and data extraction

Study eligibility requirements were: (i) randomized controlled trials; (ii) at least 3 months follow-up post randomization; (iii) inclusion of people with CKD (creatinine clearance [CrCl] <60 mL/min or eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73m², or dialysis-dependent kidney failure; (iv) comparison of dual antiplatelet therapy with placebo, no study medication, aspirin monotherapy, or another dual antiplatelet therapy; and (v) reported efficacy and/or bleeding outcomes. Trials evaluating both P2Y₁₂ inhibitor- and dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapies were eligible for inclusion. Trials evaluating dual antiplatelet therapy in combination with anticoagulant agent were excluded. Relevant studies were identified by searching MEDLINE (inception to October 2020), EMBASE (inception to October 2020), and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (November 2020) databases with English language restriction (see Table A3.1 for complete search strategy). If multiple secondary publications of the same trial were identified, the publication with the most complete data was used and additional data from secondary sources were extracted. Many of the identified RCTs had limited published CKD population data obtained via post hoc analyses. Therefore, the principal investigator from each study was contacted regarding the provision of individualpatient data or further information on relevant unreported outcomes. In addition, four potentially eligible RCTs were contacted to ascertain if further data would allow inclusion in this

¹ The protocol can be accessed at https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=79721

systematic review (20-23). However, in all cases the authors were not able to be contacted, did not respond, or no longer had access to the relevant data.

The following data were extracted using a standardized form: study design, patient demographic details, indication for antiplatelet therapy, dose of drug, follow-up duration, outcome events, and bleeding events. The methodological quality of each study included was assessed using the risk of bias assessment tool developed by the Cochrane Bias Methods Group (24). Data extraction was carried out independently by two authors (LPC and MT). Disagreements were resolved via consultation with two other authors (SVB and MJ).

Outcomes Assessed

The outcomes of this systematic review were MACE (a composite outcome of cardiovascular or all-cause death, non-fatal myocardial infarction, or stroke), cardiovascular death, all-cause death, myocardial infarction, stroke, loss of vascular dialysis access patency, and major or non-major bleeding. Subgroup analysis was conducted according to P2Y₁₂ inhibitor- or dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy, CKD stage (dialysis-dependent kidney failure or non-dialysis CKD), and indication for dual antiplatelet therapy.

Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The DerSimonian and Laird method were used to obtain summary estimates by the random effects model (25). If data on the number of events and participants were not reported, generic inverse variance meta-analysis was performed by calculating log hazard ratio and its standard error from the reported hazard ratio and respective CI. Statistical heterogeneity across studies was estimated using the I² test. I² values of 0% to 40%, 30% to 60%, 50% to 90%, and 75% to 100% were considered to correspond to low, moderate, substantial and considerable levels of heterogeneity respectively (26). Statistical analyses were performed using Stata/MP, version 16.1 (StataCorp College Station, Texas). Certainty in the evidence was summarised using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach, based on the following domains: within-study risk of bias, indirectness of evidence, unexplained heterogeneity or inconsistency of results, and imprecision of results (27). Disagreements were resolved via consultation with 2 other authors (SVB and MJ). Because all meta-analyses involved fewer than 10 trials, small-study effects (publication bias) were not assessed and publication bias was not included in ratings of certainty of evidence (28).

3.4 Results

Selection and Description of Studies

Nineteen trials involving 27,308 participants with CKD (median sample size 649 [range 16 to 4,849], median follow-up 12 [range 3 to 40] months) evaluating dual antiplatelet therapy were included in the systematic review (Figure 3.1). Details of included trials are described in Table 3.1. Of these trials, only three included 956 participants with CKD stage 5, including those with dialysis-dependent kidney failure (median sample size 200 [range 107 to 649], median follow up 18 [range 10.5 to 23.5] months) evaluating dual versus monotherapy or no antiplatelet therapy for the maintenance of dialysis access patency (29-31). Of the remaining 16 trials, 2 trials evaluated dual antiplatelet therapy for the prevention of progression of CKD in 58 participants with proteinuric kidney disease (median sample size 29 [range 18 to 40], median follow up 24 [range 12 to 36] months) (32,33), and 14 trials evaluated dual antiplatelet therapy for the prevention of cardiovascular events in 26,294 participants with coronary artery disease or stroke (median sample size 1,501 [range 16 to 4,849], median follow up 12 [range 3 to 40] months) with non-dialysis dependent CKD (defined as CrCl <60 mL/min or eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m²) (34-54). Data from these 14 cardiovascular outcome trials involving participants with coronary artery disease or stroke were obtained exclusively from CKD subgroup analyses of large cardiovascular outcome trials. 8 trials included 12,654 participants (median sample size 1,317.5 [range 16 to 4,087], median follow up 12 [range 12 to 24] months)

with symptomatic coronary artery disease requiring percutaneous coronary intervention (34-45), 5 trials included 13,286 participants (median sample size 2,009 [range 367 to 4,849], median follow up 30 [range 12 to 40] months) with acute or stable coronary artery disease for medical management (46-52),and 1 trial included 354 participants (follow up 3 months) with stroke (53,54). 1 trial including 411 participants (37,38), and another including 97 participants (45), assessed dual antiplatelet therapy versus dual antiplatelet therapy for the first 1 and 3 months respectively, after which the comparison arm changed to monotherapy for the remainder of the total 12 months of treatment. These two trials were considered to be dual antiplatelet therapy versus monotherapy for the purposes of analysis in this review.

Dual antiplatelet therapy comprising of aspirin and a P2Y₁₂ inhibitor was compared with aspirin plus P2Y₁₂ inhibitor placebo (6 trials, 16,259 participants) (34,35,37,38,46,47,49-51,53,54), another P2Y₁₂ inhibitor alone (2 trials, 2,268 participants) (41,45), aspirin placebo plus another P2Y₁₂ inhibitor (1 trial, 1,145 participants) (44), dual placebo (1 trial, 200 participants) (30), and aspirin plus another P2Y₁₂ inhibitor (5 trials, 6,622 participants) (36,39,40,42,43,48,52). Dual antiplatelet therapy comprising of aspirin and dipyridamole was compared with dual placebo (2 trials, 689 participants) (31,32), and no study medication (1 trials, 18 participants) (33), and one trial involving 107 participants had three control interventions including dual placebo, aspirin plus dipyridamole placebo and aspirin placebo plus dipyridamole (29).



Figure 3.1. PRISMA Flow Diagram Showing Selection of Studies

dialysis-dependent kidney failure and 16 trials included participants with non-dialysis CKD. CKD = chronic kidney disease; PRISMA = Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalyses

Risk of bias

Random sequence generation and allocation concealment were reported using low risk methods in 11 (58%) and 15 (79%) trials, respectively (Figure A3.1, A3.2). Seventeen (89%) trials reported blinding of participants and investigators to the allocated intervention, while blinding of outcome assessment was reported in 12 (63%) trials. Twelve (63%) and 4 (21%) trials were assessed to have low risk for incomplete outcome data and other bias, respectively.

Effects of interventions

$P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus aspirin monotherapy or no study medication

Compared with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy (Figure 3.2, Table A3.2) significantly reduced the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events (5 trials, 15,848 participants; RR 0.89; 95% CI 0.81, 0.98, $I^2 = 0\%$, moderate certainty evidence; Figure A3.3), myocardial infarction (4 trials, 7,469 participants; RR 0.75; 95% CI 0.59, 0.91, $I^2 = 0\%$, moderate certainty evidence; Figure A3.4) and stroke (5 trials, 7,823 participants; RR 0.73, 95% CI 0.52, 0.95, $I^2 = 0\%$, moderate certainty evidence; Figure A3.5), but had uncertain effect for cardiovascular mortality (4 trials, 11,356 participants; RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.79, 1.27, $I^2 = 4.4\%$, low certainty evidence) and all-cause mortality (5 trials, 11,556 participants; RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.81, 1.17, $I^2 = 22.8\%$, low certainty evidence). P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy increased the risk of major bleeding (7 trials, 16,435 participants; RR 1.60, 95% CI 1.19, 2.01; $I^2 = 0\%$, moderate certainty evidence; Figure 3.3 and Figure A3.6), however, there was no statistically significant difference in the risk of non-major bleeding between the two groups (6 trials, 11,910 participants; RR 1.31, 95% CI 0.98, 1.64; $I^2 = 59.6\%$, very low certainty evidence).

Figure 3.2. Treatment effects in trials comparing P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication



Compared with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy significantly reduced the risks of major adverse cardiovascular events, myocardial infarction and stroke; but had uncertain effect for cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality; and increased the risk of major bleeding.

Figure 3.3 Treatment effects of dual antiplatelet therapy on bleeding outcomes



Summary of treatment effects of dual antiplatelet therapy on bleeding outcomes according to different comparisons.

Only 1 trial included patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure, and the overall results were not significantly changed by the exclusion of this trial (Figure 3.4). In this trial (200 participants), P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy did not reduce the risk of loss of dialysis access patency (RR 0.95, 95% CI 0.64, 1.42), but increased the risks of major bleeding (RR 3.69, 95% CI 0.80, 16.96) and non-major bleeding (RR 1.51, 95% CI 1.11, 2.06).

Figure 3.4 Summary of treatment effects of P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy in trials involving participants with non-dialysis CKD



Significant outcomes were unchanged by the exclusion of the 1 trial including patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure

P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based monotherapy

Compared with P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based monotherapy, P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy (Figure 3.5) had uncertain effects on major adverse cardiovascular events (3 trials, 3,413 participants; RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.68, 1.429; $I^2 = 45\%$, low certainty evidence) and major bleeding (1 trial, 2,171 participants, RR 0. 91, 95% CI 0.59, 1.39, moderate certainty evidence); and increased the risk of combined major and non-major bleeding (2 trials, 1,242 participants, RR 1.90, 95% CI 1.21, 2.99; $I^2 = 0\%$, low certainty evidence). None of these trials included patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure.

Figure 3.5 Summary of treatment effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor monotherapy



Compared with P2Y12 inhibitor-based monotherapy, P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy had uncertain effects on major adverse cardiovascular events and major bleeding

Clopidogrel-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy

Compared with clopidogrel-based dual antiplatelet therapy, ticagrelor- or prasugrelbased dual antiplatelet therapy (Figure 3.6) had uncertain effects on major adverse cardiovascular events (3 trials, 4,765 participants; RR 0.86, 95% CI 0.61, 1.11; $I^2 = 45.9\%$, low certainty evidence) and major bleeding (4 trials, 6,227 participants; RR 1.19, 95% CI 0.82, 1.57; $I^2 = 0\%$, low certainty evidence); but decreased the risks of all-cause mortality (2 trials, 4,727 participants RR 0.74, 95% CI 0.60, 0.88; $I^2 = 0\%$, moderate certainty evidence). Data on myocardial infarction and cardiovascular mortality were reported in 1 trial. Figure 3.6 Summary of treatment effects of clopidogrel-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy



Analysis of clopidogrel-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus P2Y12 inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy showed uncertain effects on major adverse cardiovascular events and major bleeding but decreased risk of all-cause mortality

Dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus monotherapy or no antiplatelet therapy

Compared with monotherapy or no antiplatelet therapy, dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy (Figure 3.7) had uncertain effects on myocardial infarction (1 trial, 649 participants; RR 1.08, 95% CI 0.58, 2.01), stroke (1 trial, 649 participants; RR 1.7, 95% CI 0.41, 7.01), all-cause mortality (2 trials, 756 participants; RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.76, 1.16; $I^2 = 0\%$), and dialysis access patency (2 trials, 756 participants; RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.79, 1.12; $I^2 = 0\%$). There were no significant differences in the risks of major bleeding (1 trial, 649 participants; RR 1.02, 95% CI 0.53, 1.97) and non-major bleeding (2 trials, 689 participants; RR 1.1, 95% CI 0.38, 3.2; $I^2 = 18\%$) between the two groups. In trials involving patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure, there were no differences in the risks of myocardial infarction, stroke, and all-cause mortality between the two groups (Figure A3.7), and no trial reported data on cardiovascular mortality.



Figure 3.7 Summary of treatment effects of dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy

Limited available evidence for dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy showed uncertain effects on myocardial infarction, stroke, all-cause mortality, and dialysis access patency with no significant differences for bleeding risk

3.5 Discussion

This meta-analysis demonstrated that compared with aspirin monotherapy or no study medication, $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy was beneficial in reducing cardiovascular events in patients with non-dialysis CKD, with relative risk reductions of 11% for major adverse cardiovascular events, 25% for myocardial infarction and 27% for stroke. However, $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy increased the risk of major bleeding by 60% and did not modify the risks of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality. There appears to be no significant difference in the risk of major bleeding with $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy or dual antiplatelet therapy or dual antiplatelet therapy, however, further data are required to assess the effect of this regimen on cardiovascular outcomes. Data on the effects of dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy were scant. No data were available on the effects of dual antiplatelet therapy on the prevention of cardiovascular events for patients with advanced stages of CKD, including those with dialysis-dependent kidney failure.

Cardiovascular thrombotic events constitute major causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with CKD, particularly those with kidney failure requiring dialysis. Given the greater rates of cardiovascular thrombotic events in patients with advanced CKD compared with patients with normal kidney function, the absolute risk reduction with dual antiplatelet therapy in this population may be greater. The potential benefit of dual antiplatelet therapy needs to be weighed against the risk for bleeding in this population. In a recently published prospective cohort study, the reported rates of major bleeding in patients on haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis were 60.8 and 34.6 per 1,000 person-years, respectively (55). These rates increased to 65 and 47.4 per 1,000 person-years, respectively among patients with cardiovascular disease, and 67.3 and 56.4 per 1,000 person-years, respectively among those treated with antithrombotic treatment. Due to the increased bleeding risk, patients with advanced stages of CKD and kidney failure present a therapeutic conundrum.

Adding to the therapeutic conundrum is the limited evidence to guide optimal duration of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with CKD. A 2019 meta-analysis of five RCTs containing 1902 patients with CKD, demonstrated that shorter DAPT duration therapy of ≤ 6 months was not inferior to longer DAPT therapy of 12 months in those with drug eluted stents. There was a similar incidence of the primary composite outcome of all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, and stent thrombosis with no significant differences in major bleeding (56). However, there were few patients with CKD stage 4-5 included in the trials analysed and there was insufficient power to make definitive estimates.

This systematic review highlights the absence of evidence in patients with advanced CKD, particularly in those with dialysis-dependent kidney failure. We also found scant data on the efficacy of newer antiplatelet agents, such as ticagrelor and prasugrel.

Study strengths and limitations

The current review differs from previous reviews of antiplatelet agents in CKD by focusing on dual antiplatelet therapy, including recent data on prasugrel and ticagrelor, increasingly used in clinical practice (57,58). Other strengths were the inclusion of a large

number of participants, the robust evaluation of efficacy and bleeding outcomes, and the use of the GRADE approach to assess the body of evidence. These strengths should be weighed against the review's limitations, which were largely due to the limitations of the underlying literature. These include exclusion of patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure, limited information on demographic characteristics of the CKD subgroup, underreporting of organspecific bleeding data (especially gastrointestinal bleeding) and lack of individual-patient data.

In summary, this systematic review demonstrated that P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy was superior to aspirin monotherapy or no study medication in reducing cardiovascular events in patients with CKD but increased the risk of major bleeding. However, evidence was insufficient to recommend widespread use of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure. Adequately powered randomized trials are required to evaluate the benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy in this patient population.

3.6 Perspectives

Competency in medical knowledge: In patients with chronic kidney disease not requiring dialysis, P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy reduced the risk of major adverse cardiovascular events; but increased the risk of bleeding. There are insufficient data to conclude whether patients with advanced stages of chronic kidney disease, including those needing dialysis, derive benefit from dual antiplatelet therapy. Clinicians should exercise caution before prescribing dual antiplatelet therapy in this patient population.

Translational outlook: Adequately powered trials are required to study the benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with advanced stages of chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease.

3.7 References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Chronic Kidney Disease in the United States, 2019. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019.
- US Renal Data System 2019 Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of Kidney Disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis 2019;75:S1-S64.
- Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1296-305.
- van der Velde M, Matsushita K, Coresh J et al. Lower estimated glomerular filtration rate and higher albuminuria are associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. A collaborative meta-analysis of high-risk population cohorts. Kidney Int 2011;79:1341-52.
- Anavekar NS, McMurray JJV, Velazquez EJ et al. Relation between Renal Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1285-1295.
- Gansevoort RT, Correa-Rotter R, Hemmelgarn BR et al. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular risk: epidemiology, mechanisms, and prevention. Lancet 2013;382:339-52.
- Keith DS, Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Brown JB, Smith DH. Longitudinal follow-up and outcomes among a population with chronic kidney disease in a large managed care organization. Arch Intern Med 2004;164:659-63.
- 8. Weiner DE, Tighiouart H, Stark PC et al. Kidney disease as a risk factor for recurrent cardiovascular disease and mortality. Am J Kidney Dis 2004;44:198-206.
- Manjunath G, Tighiouart H, Ibrahim H et al. Level of kidney function as a risk factor for atherosclerotic cardiovascular outcomes in the community. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:47-55.
- Muntner P, He J, Astor BC, Folsom AR, Coresh J. Traditional and nontraditional risk factors predict coronary heart disease in chronic kidney disease: results from the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:529-38.
- Lutz J, Menke J, Sollinger D, Schinzel H, Thurmel K. Haemostasis in chronic kidney disease. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 2014;29:29-40.
- 12. O'Gara PT, Kushner FG, Ascheim DD et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of

Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;61:e78-e140.

- Amsterdam EA, Wenger NK, Brindis RG et al. 2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients with Non-ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndromes: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64:e139-e228.
- Levine GN, Bates ER, Bittl JA et al. 2016 ACC/AHA Guideline Focused Update on Duration of Dual Antiplatelet Therapy in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;68:1082-115.
- 15. Fox CS, Muntner P, Chen AY et al. Use of evidence-based therapies in short-term outcomes of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction and non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in patients with chronic kidney disease: a report from the National Cardiovascular Data Acute Coronary Treatment and Intervention Outcomes Network registry. Circulation 2010;121:357-65.
- Molnar AO, Bota SE, Garg AX et al. The Risk of Major Hemorrhage with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2016;27:2825-32.
- Chan KE, Lazarus JM, Thadhani R, Hakim RM. Anticoagulant and antiplatelet usage associates with mortality among hemodialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20:872-81.
- Konstantinidis I, Nadkarni GN, Yacoub R et al. Representation of Patients With Kidney Disease in Trials of Cardiovascular Interventions: An Updated Systematic Review. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176:121-4.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Ann Intern Med 2009;151:264-9, W64.
- 20. Diener H-C, Bogousslavsky J, Brass LM et al. Aspirin and clopidogrel compared with clopidogrel alone after recent ischaemic stroke or transient ischaemic attack in high-risk patients (MATCH): randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2004;364:331-337.
- Perera KS, Pearce LA, Sharma M, Benavente O, Connolly SJ, Hart RG. Predictors of Mortality in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation (from the Atrial Fibrillation Clopidogrel Trial With Irbesartan for Prevention of Vascular Events [ACTIVE A]). Am J Cardiol 2018;121:584-589.
- McClure LA, Szychowski JM, Benavente O, Coffey CS. Sample size re-estimation in an on-going NIH-sponsored clinical trial: The secondary prevention of small subcortical strokes experience. Contemp Clin Trials 2012;33:1088-1093.

- Ge GAO, Zhe Z, Yi PI, Bin LU, Jinguo LU, Shengshou HU. Aspirin Plus Clopidogrel Therapy Increases Early Venous Graft Patency After Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery: A Single-Center, Randomized, Controlled Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;56:1639-1643.
- Boutron I, Page MJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Lundh A, Hróbjartsson A. Chapter 7: Considering bias and conflicts of interest among the included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al., editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 61 (updated September 2020): Cochrane, 2020.
- 25. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Control Clin Trials 1986;7:177-88.
- Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG. Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking metaanalyses. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al., editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 61 (updated September 2020): Cochrane, 2020.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Schunemann HJ, Tugwell P, Knottnerus A. GRADE guidelines: a new series of articles in the Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. Journal of clinical epidemiology 2011;64:380-2.
- Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2011;343:d4002.
- 29. Sreedhara R, Himmelfarb J, Lazarus JM, Hakim RM. Anti-platelet therapy in graft thrombosis: results of a prospective, randomized, double-blind study. Kidney Int 1994;45:1477-83.
- Kaufman JS, O'Connor TZ, Zhang JH et al. Randomized controlled trial of clopidogrel plus aspirin to prevent hemodialysis access graft thrombosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003;14:2313-21.
- 31. Dixon BS, Beck GJ, Vazquez MA et al. Effect of dipyridamole plus aspirin on hemodialysis graft patency. N Engl J Med 2009;360:2191-201.
- Donadio JV, Jr., Anderson CF, Mitchell JC, 3rd et al. Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis. A prospective clinical trial of platelet-inhibitor therapy. N Engl J Med 1984;310:1421-6.
- 33. Zauner I, Bohler J, Braun N, Grupp C, Heering P, Schollmeyer P. Effect of aspirin and dipyridamole on proteinuria in idiopathic membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis: a multicentre prospective clinical trial. Collaborative Glomerulonephritis Therapy Study Group (CGTS). Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 1994;9:619-22.

- 34. Keltai M, Tonelli M, Mann JF et al. Renal function and outcomes in acute coronary syndrome: impact of clopidogrel. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2007;14:312-8.
- 35. Yusuf S, Zhao F, Mehta SR et al. Effects of clopidogrel in addition to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation. N Engl J Med 2001;345:494-502.
- Wiviott SD, Braunwald E, McCabe CH et al. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2007;357:2001-15.
- 37. Best PJ, Steinhubl SR, Berger PB et al. The efficacy and safety of short- and long-term dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with mild or moderate chronic kidney disease: results from the Clopidogrel for the Reduction of Events During Observation (CREDO) trial. Am Heart J 2008;155:687-93.
- 38. Steinhubl SR, Berger PB, Mann JT, 3rd et al. Early and sustained dual oral antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002;288:2411-20.
- 39. James S, Budaj A, Aylward P et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in acute coronary syndromes in relation to renal function: results from the Platelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes (PLATO) trial. Circulation 2010;122:1056-67.
- 40. Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2009;361:1045-57.
- 41. Vranckx P, Valgimigli M, Juni P et al. Ticagrelor plus aspirin for 1 month, followed by ticagrelor monotherapy for 23 months vs aspirin plus clopidogrel or ticagrelor for 12 months, followed by aspirin monotherapy for 12 months after implantation of a drug-eluting stent: a multicentre, open-label, randomised superiority trial. Lancet 2018;392:940-949.
- Motovska Z, Hlinomaz O, Miklik R et al. Prasugrel Versus Ticagrelor in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction Treated With Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: Multicenter Randomized PRAGUE-18 Study. Circulation 2016;134:1603-1612.
- Motovska Z, Hlinomaz O, Kala P et al. 1-Year Outcomes of Patients Undergoing Primary Angioplasty for Myocardial Infarction Treated With Prasugrel Versus Ticagrelor. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018;71:371-381.
- 44. Mehran R, Baber U, Sharma SK et al. Ticagrelor with or without Aspirin in High-Risk Patients after PCI. N Engl J Med 2019;381:2032-2042.
- 45. Hahn JY, Song YB, Oh JH et al. Effect of P2Y12 Inhibitor Monotherapy vs Dual Antiplatelet Therapy on Cardiovascular Events in Patients Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: The SMART-CHOICE Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2019;321:2428-2437.

- 46. Bhatt DL, Fox KA, Hacke W et al. Clopidogrel and aspirin versus aspirin alone for the prevention of atherothrombotic events. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1706-17.
- 47. Dasgupta A, Steinhubl SR, Bhatt DL et al. Clinical outcomes of patients with diabetic nephropathy randomized to clopidogrel plus aspirin versus aspirin alone (a post hoc analysis of the clopidogrel for high atherothrombotic risk and ischemic stabilization, management, and avoidance [CHARISMA] trial). Am J Cardiol 2009;103:1359-63.
- 48. Roe MT, Armstrong PW, Fox KA et al. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel for acute coronary syndromes without revascularization. N Engl J Med 2012;367:1297-309.
- Bonaca MP, Bhatt DL, Cohen M et al. Long-term use of ticagrelor in patients with prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2015;372:1791-800.
- 50. Magnani G, Storey RF, Steg G et al. Efficacy and safety of ticagrelor for long-term secondary prevention of atherothrombotic events in relation to renal function: insights from the PEGASUS-TIMI 54 trial. European heart journal 2016;37:400-8.
- 51. Steg PG, Bhatt DL, Simon T et al. Ticagrelor in Patients with Stable Coronary Disease and Diabetes. N Engl J Med 2019;381:1309-1320.
- 52. Gimbel M, Qaderdan K, Willemsen L et al. Clopidogrel versus ticagrelor or prasugrel in patients aged 70 years or older with non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome (POPular AGE): the randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2020;395:1374-1381.
- 53. Wang Y, Wang Y, Zhao X et al. Clopidogrel with aspirin in acute minor stroke or transient ischemic attack. N Engl J Med 2013;369:11-9.
- 54. Zhou Y, Pan Y, Wu Y et al. Effect of Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate Decline on the Efficacy and Safety of Clopidogrel With Aspirin in Minor Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack: CHANCE Substudy (Clopidogrel in High-Risk Patients With Acute Nondisabling Cerebrovascular Events). Stroke 2016;47:2791-2796.
- 55. van Eck van der Sluijs A, Abrahams AC, Rookmaaker MB et al. Bleeding risk of haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 2020; doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfaa216.
- 56. Mavrakanas TA, Chatzizisis YS, Gariani K et al. Duration of Dual Antiplatelet Therapy in Patients with CKD and Drug-Eluting Stents: A Meta-Analysis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2019;14:810-822.
- 57. Palmer SC, Di Micco L, Razavian M et al. Effects of antiplatelet therapy on mortality and cardiovascular and bleeding outcomes in persons with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2012;156:445-59.

58. Su X, Yan B, Wang L, Lv J, Cheng H, Chen Y. Effect of antiplatelet therapy on cardiovascular and kidney outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Nephrol 2019;20:309.

Table 3.1 Characteristics of Included studies

Study year	Inclusion criteria	N	Kidney function (eGFR, CrCl, or CKD stage)	Lower threshold of kidney function for exclusion	Experimental intervention	Control intervention	Follow- up (months)	MACE definition	Bleeding definition
		Tria	ls evaluating the effe	ect of dual antipla	telet therapy on dialy	sis vascular access	s patency		
Sreedhara 1994 (25)	Kidney failure requiring new PTFE graft, or thrombectomy or revision of existing PTFE graft	107	Kidney failure	NA	Aspirin 325 mg OD plus dipyridamole 75 mg TDS	Aspirin plus dipyridamole placebo; or aspirin placebo plus dipyridamole; or double placebo	18	NA	NR
Kaufman 2003 (26)	Kidney failure requiring new PTFE graft	200	Kidney failure	NA	Aspirin 325 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	Double placebo	10.5	NA	§
DAC 2009 (27)	Kidney failure requiring new PTFE graft	649	Kidney failure	NA	Aspirin 25 mg BD plus dipyridamole 200 mg BD	Double placebo	23.5	NA	§
		Tr	ials evaluating the ef	fect of dual antip	latelet therapy on pro	gression of kidney	disease		
Donadio 1984 (28)	Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis	40	Mean mGFR 62.6 to 69.5 mL/min/1.73 m ²	Dialysis- dependent kidney failure	Aspirin 325 mg TDS plus dipyridamole 75 mg TDS	Double placebo	12	NA	NR
Zauner 1994 (29)	Membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis	18	Mean serum creatinine 1.79 mg/dL	NR	Aspirin 500 mg OD plus dipyridamole 75 mg OD	No study medication	36	NA	NR
	Trials in	nvolving	patients with symptom	omatic coronary	artery disease requiri	ng percutaneous c	oronary into	ervention	
CURE 2007 (30,31)	Non–ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction	4087	GFR <64 mL/min (lower tertile)	NR	Aspirin 325 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	Aspirin 75-325 mg OD plus placebo	12	CV death, MI, stroke	¶

Study year	Inclusion criteria	Ν	Kidney function (eGFR, CrCl, or CKD stage)	Lower threshold of kidney function for exclusion	Experimental intervention	Control intervention	Follow- up (months)	MACE definition	Bleeding definition
TRITON 2007 (32)	Acute coronary syndrome	1490	CrCl <60 mL/min	NR	Aspirin 75-162 mg OD plus prasugrel 10 mg OD	Aspirin 75-162 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	15	CV death, MI, stroke	TIMI
CREDO 2008 (33,34)	Symptomatic coronary artery disease	411	CrCl <60 mL/min	NR	Aspirin 81-325 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	Aspirin 81-325 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD for 28 days, followed by Aspirin 81- 325mg OD plus placebo	12	All-cause death, MI, stroke	TIMI
PLATO 2010 (35,36)	ST-Elevation or Non– ST-segment Myocardial Infarction	3237	CrCl <60 mL/min	Dialysis- dependent kidney failure	Aspirin 325 mg OD plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD	Aspirin 75-325 mg OD plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	12	CV death, MI, stroke	TIMI
GLOBAL LEADER 2018 (37)	Acute coronary syndrome or coronary artery disease	2171	eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m ²	NR	Aspirin 75-150 mg OD plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD or clopidogrel 75 mg OD	Ticagrelor 90 mg BD	24	All-cause death, MI	BARC
PRAGUE-18 2018 (38,39)	Acute coronary syndrome	16	NR	NR	Aspirin 100 mg OD plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD	Aspirin 100 mg OD plus prasugrel 5-10 OD	12	CV death, MI, stroke	TIMI and BARC
TWILIGHT 2019 (40)	Acute coronary syndrome or coronary artery disease	1145	eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m ²	Dialysis- dependent kidnev failure	Aspirin 81-100 mg OD plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD	Placebo plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD	12	All-cause death, MI, stroke	BARC
SMART- CHOICE 2019 (41)	Acute coronary syndrome or coronary artery disease	97	eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m ²	NR	Aspirin 100 mg OD plus ticagrelor 90 mg BD or	Aspirin plus Ticagrelor 90 mg BD or	12	All-cause death, MI, stroke	BARC

Study year	Inclusion criteria	N	Kidney function (eGFR, CrCl, or CKD stage)	Lower threshold of kidney function for exclusion	Experimental intervention	Control intervention	Follow- up (months)	MACE definition	Bleeding definition
					clopidogrel 75 mg	clopidogrel 75			
					OD or prasugrel 10	mg OD or			
					mg OD	prasugrel 10 mg			
						OD for 3			
						months,			
						followed by			
						$P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor			
	m • 1 •	.			4.11	alone			
CHADISMA	Fatablished CV disease	volving	Dishets and	bronary syndron	he or stable coronary	A aminin 75, 162		nagement	CUETO
CHARISMA 2000 (42, 42)	Established CV disease	2009	Diabetes and	NK	Aspirin /5-162 mg	Aspirin 75-162	28	CV death, MI,	GUSIO
2009 (42,43)	or multiple CV risk		Microalduminuria		OD plus	mg OD plus		stroke	
	factors		function not recorded.		OD	placebo			
TRILOGY	Unstable angina or Non-	1512	CrCl <60 mL/min	Dialysis-	Aspirin 75-162 mg	Aspirin 75-162	30	CV death, MI,	TIMI
2012 (44)	ST-segment Myocardial			dependent	OD plus prasugrel	mg OD plus		stroke	
	Infarction and at least one CV risk factor			kidney failure	5-10 mg OD	clopidogrel 75 mg OD			
PEGASUS	Prior myocardial	4849	eGFR <60	Dialysis-	Aspirin 75-150 mg	Aspirin 75-150	36	CV death, MI,	TIMI
2016 (45,46)	infarction and at least 1		mL/min/1.73 m ²	dependent	OD plus ticagrelor	mg OD plus		stroke	
	CV risk factor including CrCl <60 mL/min			kidney failure	60-90 mg BD	placebo			
THEMIS	Stable coronary artery	4549	eGFR <60	Dialysis-	Aspirin 75-150 mg	Aspirin 75-150	40	CV death, MI,	TIMI
2019 (47)	disease and type 2		mL/min/1.73 m ²	dependent	OD plus ticagrelor	mg OD plus		stroke	
	diabetes			kidney failure	60-90 mg BD	placebo			
POPular AGE	Age ≥70 yr, non-ST-	367	eGFR <60	Dialysis-	Aspirin plus	Aspirin plus	12	NA	PLATO
2020 (48)	elevation acute coronary		mL/min/1.73 m ²	dependent	ticagrelor 90 mg	clopidogrel 75			
	syndrome			kidney failure	BD or prasugrel 10 mg OD	mg OD			
			Trials evaluating	the effect of dua	l antiplatelet therapy	on recurrent strok	e		

Study year	Inclusion criteria	N	Kidney function (eGFR, CrCl, or CKD stage)	Lower threshold of kidney function for exclusion	Experimental intervention	Control intervention	Follow- up (months)	MACE definition	Bleeding definition
CHANCE 2016 (49)	Acute ischemic stroke or high-risk transient ischemic attack	354	eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m ²	Serum creatinine >1.5 times of upper normal range	Aspirin plus clopidogrel 75 mg OD	Aspirin plus placebo	3	CV death, MI, stroke	GUSTO

BARC: Bleeding Academic Research Consortium; CV: cardiovascular; CrCl: creatinine clearance; eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate; GUSTO: Global Use of Strategies to Open Occluded Arteries; MACE: major adverse cardiovascular event; mGFR: measured glomerular filtration rate; MI: myocardial infarction; NA: not applicable; NR: not reported; PLATO: Platelet Inhibitionand Patient Outcomes; PTFE: polytetrafluoro-ethylene; TIMI: Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction

¶ Major bleeding was defined as substantially disabling bleeding, intraocular bleeding leading to the loss of vision, or bleeding necessitating the transfusion of at least 2 units of blood.

§ Major bleeding was defined as confirmed retroperitoneal, intra-articular, intraocular, or cerebral hemorrhage or any bleeding that resulted in a 2 g/dl decrease in hemoglobin concentration and required hospitalization or transfusion.

Chapter 4. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The research studies presented in this thesis were aimed at delineating the burden of polypharmacy and the evidence for medical interventions in the treatment of the cardiovascular comorbidities and associated morbidity and mortality in CKD. Key findings of these studies, their strengths and limitations, and their implications for patient care and future research are discussed in this chapter.

4.1 Polypharmacy in Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease at High Risk of CKD Progression

What was known before: Polypharmacy is a growing problem in patients with CKD in the context of multimorbidity and a lack of evidence based prescribing guidelines

Key findings: The prevalence of polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy were 77.6% (281 patients of 362) and 34.3% (124 patients of 362) respectively, and were associated with age, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and hyperlipidaemia but not CKD stage. Glucose and blood pressure lowering medications were the most prescribed.

Strengths: (i) Inclusion of systematically collected data from an RCT; (ii) use of the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system.

Limitations: (i) Lack of inclusion of CKD stage 5; (ii) selection for high progression criterion limits generalisability to the wider CKD population; (iii) lack of data on the pill count; and (iv) no evaluation of medication appropriateness.

Implications for patient care: Clinicians should consider the medication burden of their patients carefully and deprescribe where possible.

Implications for future clinical research: The utility of multidisciplinary medication audits with inclusion of a clinical pharmacist and performing community medication reviews should be an area of further research.

4.2 Benefits and harms of dual antiplatelet therapy in chronic kidney disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials

What was known before: Cardiovascular disease is highly prevalent in patients with CKD and is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. However, the role of dual antiplatelet therapy in reducing major cardiovascular events or death had not been systematically studied.

Key findings: For early stage CKD, dual antiplatelet therapy with $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitors improved cardiovascular outcomes but increased the risk of major bleeding. The effect was uncertain for cardiovascular or all-cause mortality. There was insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions regarding those patients with advanced CKD.

Strengths: (i) Comprehensive evaluation of the evidence using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) system; (ii) rigorous risk of bias assessment; and (iii) inclusion of only RCTs.

Limitations: (i) Lack of patient level data; (ii) inability to formally assess publication bias in some analyses due to the small number of trials; and (iii) reliance on post hoc or small CKD subgroup data.

Implications for patient care: There is insufficient evidence to currently recommend dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with advanced CKD, including those on dialysis.

Implications for future clinical research: Adequately powered randomised trials aimed at patients with advanced CKD are needed.

4.3 Future directions for clinical practice

Currently therapeutic interventions for clinical outcomes in patients with CKD are limited to a small number of agents with modest benefit. From a clinician's point of view, this research has confirmed that dual antiplatelet therapy can be applied to early stages of CKD for the improvement of cardiovascular outcomes in comparison to monotherapy. However, recommendations for one P2Y12 inhibitor over another are not possible in patients with advanced CKD, particularly the dialysis population, due to lack of evidence. The high prevalence of polypharmacy has been confirmed within at-risk CKD populations. Although the findings of these papers have not added any effective intervention to improve clinical outcomes, they nevertheless caution clinicians against the use of unproven interventions given the potential for harm. Clinicians should recognise that current definitions of polypharmacy are arbitrary and need to be re-evaluated. As such, assessment solely based on an arbitrarily defined high number of medications being prescribed to patients with CKDfails to appreciate that the appropriate number of medications varies according to clinical needs. Hence, omitting medications for the sake of reducing polypharmacy per se, could inadvertently have a negative impact on clinical outcomes.

4.4 Future directions for clinical research

Challenges faced by those conducting clinical research in the CKD population have been exemplified by the systematic review. Data collection was problematic given a significant proportion of the available data was obtained from post hoc studies with limited information on CKD specific outcomes and baseline GFRs. CKD focused studies were small in both number and size, with frequent exclusion of advanced stage CKD and patients with dialysis-dependent kidney failure -- the highest risk population. Both of these factors hamper the creation of appropriate guidelines, as well as limit the generalisability of any results to patients with advanced stage CKD. Thus, larger trials are needed with inclusion of a broader spectrum of patients with CKD, with design allowing for evaluation of the benefits and harms of pharmacological interventions in people with CKD.

Polypharmacy will continue to be a growing problem in an increasingly aged and comorbidpopulation with CKD. Considering the association with negative clinical outcomes, further research on medication appropriateness, deprescribing and prescribing omitted appropriate treatments is needed. However, there are multiple challenges separate from the need to bolster the limited evidence for patients with CKD. These are the fragmentation of care across multiple specialists, and the fact that quantifying polypharmacy fails to consider specific patient preferences or areas where guidelines may not be applicable. Therefore, investigation into whether medication reviews could be delivered through primary care physicians and community pharmacies is required given their increasingly important role in organising care for patients with chronic diseases. Given the time intensive nature of medication reconciliations, further studies in adverse drug events associated with polypharmacy would allow for identification of those patients with CKD most at risk.

Several additional strategies require further investigation to optimise outcomes in patients with CKD regarding the correct type, dose duration and combination of antiplatelet agents. Given the complex vascular milieu and variable platelet reactivity in patients with CKD, an individualised platelet function testing approach could be helpful. This may guide agent choice and dual antiplatelet therapy de-escalation schedules that could reduce bleeding without increasing the risk for ischaemic complications. In addition, risk scores have been established in the general population to help guide decision making regarding thrombotic versus bleeding risk. Finally, it is unknown whether longer duration antiplatelet therapy is protective in patients with CKD due to their higher thrombotic risk, or whether it merely increases bleeding complications in this population. The utility of these approaches warrants specific investigation in patients with CKD with dedicated studies and analyses.

4.5 Conclusion

This research demonstrated there is a paucity of high quality RCT-level evidence for the use of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with advanced CKD. This is compounded by the well-established burden of polypharmacy in a population at high risk for complications. Adequately powered, head-to-head, randomised trials aimed at patients with advanced CKD are urgently needed.

Appendix

		Risk of bias domains									
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall				
	CHANCE 2016	+	+	+	+	-	-				
	CHARISMA 2009	-	+	+	+	-	-				
	CREDO 2008	+	+	+	+	-	-				
	DAC 2009	+	+	+	+	+	+				
	CURE 2007	+	+	+	+	-	-				
	GLOBAL LEADER 2018	+	-	+	+	+	-				
	PEGASUS 2016	+	+	+	+	-	-				
	PLATO 2010	-	-	+	+	-	-				
	POPular AGE 2020	×	-	+	+	-	×				
Study	PRAGUE-18 2018	+	-	+	+	-	-				
	SMARTCHOICE 2019	-	-	+	+	+	-				
	THEMIS 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+				
	TRILOGY 2012	+	+	+	+	-	-				
	TRITON 2007	-	+	+	+	-	-				
	TWILIGHT 2019	-	-	+	+	+	-				
	Donadio 1984	-	X	×	+	-	X				
	Kaufman 2003	+	+	+	-	-	-				
	Sreedhara 1994	-	X	+	+	-	×				
	Zauner 1994	X	X	+	+	-	×				
	Domains: D1: Bias arising from the randomization process D2: Bias due to deviations from intended intervention. D3: Bias due to missing outcome data. D4: Bias in measurement of the outcome. D5: Bias in selection of the reported result.										

Figure A3.1 Risk of bias assessment of the included studies
Figure A3.2 Summary of risk of bias assessment



Figure A3.3. Relative effects of $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin monotherapy or no study medication on major adverse cardiovascular events



Figure A3.4 Relative effects of P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin monotherapy or no study medication on myocardial infarction



Figure A3.5 Relative effects of P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin monotherapy or no study medication on stroke



Figure A3.6 Relative effects of P2Y₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy vs aspirin monotherapy or no study medication on major bleeding



Figure A3.7 Summary of treatment effects of dipyridamole-based dual antiplatelet therapy in trials involving dialysis-dependent kidney failure



Table A3.1	Electronic	search	strategy
------------	------------	--------	----------

Database	Search terms
MEDLINE	1. exp Platelet Aggregation Inhibitors/ or exp Aspirin/ or exp Salicylates/
	or exp Dipyridamole/ or exp Aspirin, Dipyridamole Drug
(Ovid)	Combination/ or exp Purinergic P2Y Receptor Antagonists/ or exp
	Thienopyridines/ or exp Ticlopidine/ or exp Prasugrel Hydrochloride/
	or (triflusal or cilostazol or clopidogrel or ticagrelor or cangrelor or
	dual antiplatelet therapy or DAPT).tw.
	2. exp Renal Dialysis/ or exp Renal Replacement Therapy/ or exp Kidney
	Failure, Chronic/ or exp Renal Insufficiency/ or Renal Insufficiency,
	Chronic/ or exp Kidney Diseases/ or exp Kidney Transplantation/ or
	exp glomerular filtration rate/ or exp kidney function test/ or exp
	creatinine/ or creatinine clearance.tw.
	3. exp Clinical trial/ or exp Controlled clinical trial/ or exp Randomized
	4 1 and 2 and 3
	4. I allo 2 allo 3 5. limit A to humans
FMBASE	1 exp acetylsalicylic acid/ or exp triflusal/ or exp dipyridamole/ or exp
LINDINGL	acetylsalicylic acid plus dipyridamole/ or exp cilostazol/ or exp
(Ovid)	purinergic P2Y receptor antagonist/ or exp ticlopidine/ or exp
	clopidogrel/ or exp elinogrel/ or exp prasugrel/ or exp ticagrelor/ or exp
	cangrelor/ or exp dual antiplatelet therapy/
	2. exp chronic kidney disease/ or exp chronic kidney failure/ or exp renal
	replacement therapy/ or exp hemodialysis/ or exp peritoneal dialysis/
	or exp creatinine blood level/ or exp creatinine clearance/ or exp
	kidney function/ or exp renal clearance/ or exp estimated glomerular
	filtration rate/ or exp glomerular filtration rate/
	3. exp controlled clinical trial/ or exp clinical trial/ or exp controlled
	study/ or exp randomized controlled trial/
	4. 1 and 2 and 5 5. limit 4 to humans
CENTRAL	 Immediate to multians MaSH descriptor: [Distalet Aggregation Inhibitors] evolute all trees
CLIVINAL	2 MeSH descriptor: [Aspirin] explode all trees
	3. MeSH descriptor: [Salicylates] explode all trees
	4. MeSH descriptor: [Dipyridamole] explode all trees
	5. MeSH descriptor: [Aspirin, Dipyridamole Drug Combination] explode
	all trees
	6. MeSH descriptor: [Purinergic P2Y Receptor Antagonists] explode all
	trees
	7. MeSH descriptor: [Ticlopidine] explode all trees
	8. MeSH descriptor: [Prasugrel Hydrochloride] explode all trees
	9. triflusal or cilostazol or clopidogrel or ticagrelor or cangrelor or "dual
	antiplatelet therapy" or DAPT:ti,ab,kw
	10. (#1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #/ or #8 or #9) 11. MaSH descriptory [Glomorylan Eiltration Data] availade all trace
	11. MESH descriptor: [Giomerular Filtration Kale] explode all trees
	12. MeSH descriptor. [Creatinine] explode all trees
	14. "creatinine clearance":ti.ab.kw

Certainty Assessment								Effect	
Outcome	No. of studies	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other Considerations	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty
P2Y ₁₂ inhibitor-based dual antiplatelet therapy versus aspirin monotherapy or no study medication									
Major adverse cardiovascular events	5 randomised trials	serious ^a	not serious	not serious	not serious	none	RR 0.89 (0.81 to 0.98)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Myocardial infarction	4 randomised trials	serious ^a	not serious	not serious	not serious	none	RR 0.75 (0.59 to 0.91)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Cerebrovascular accident	5 randomised trials	serious ^a	not serious	not serious	not serious	none	RR 0.73 (0.51 to 0.95)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Dialysis access thrombosis	1 randomised trials	serious _{a,b}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.95 (0.64 to 1.42)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
All-cause mortality	5 randomised trials	serious ^a	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.99 (0.81 to 1.17)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
Cardiovascular mortality	4 randomised trials	serious ^a	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.03 (0.79 to 1.27)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW

Table A3.2 Certainty of evidence using the GRADE approach

Certainty Assessment								Effect	
Outcome	No. of studies	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other Considerations	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty
Major bleeding	7 randomised trials	serious ¹	not serious	not serious	not serious	none	RR 1.60 (1.19 to 2.01)	2 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Non-major bleeding	6 randomised trials	serious	serious ^d	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.31 (0.98 to 1.64)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕○○○ VERY LOW
Fatal bleeding	1 randomised trials	serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.20 (0.01 to 4.11)	0 fewer per 1,000 (from 4 fewer to 0 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
	Р	2Y ₁₂ inhibi	tor-based dual a	antiplatelet the	rapy versus P2	Y ₁₂ inhibitor-base	ed monother	apy	
Major cardiovascular event	3 randomised trials	serious _{e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.99 (0.68 to 1.43)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
Major bleeding	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.91 (0.59 to 1.39)	4 fewer per 1,000 (from 16 fewer to 15 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Major and non- major bleeding	2 randomised trials	serious _{e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^g	none	RR 1.90 (1.21 to 2.99)	39 more per 1,000 (from 9 more to 87 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW

Certainty Assessment								Effect		
Outcome	No. of studies	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other Considerations	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	
Dual antiplatelet therapy versus dual antiplatelet therapy										
Major cardiovascular event	3 randomised trials	serious _{a,e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.86 (0.61 to 1.11)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW	
Myocardial infarction	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.80 (0.60 to 1.09)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE	
All-cause mortality	2 randomised trials	serious _{a,e}	not serious	not serious	not serious	none	RR 0.74 (0.60 to 0.88)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE	
Cardiovascular mortality	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.35 (0.87 to 2.10)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE	
Major bleeding	4 randomised trials	serious _{a,e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.19 (0.82 to 1.57)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW	
Non-major bleeding	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.35 (0.87 to 2.10)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕○ MODERATE	
Fatal bleeding	1 randomised trials	serious _{a,e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.48 (0.15 to 1.54)	0 fewer per 1,000	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW	

Certainty Assessment								Effect	
Outcome	No. of studies	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other Considerations	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty
								(from 2 fewer to 0 fewer)	
Major and non- major bleeding	1 randomised trials	serious _{a,e,f}	not serious	not serious	serious ^g	none	RR 1.82 (1.18 to 2.86)	2 fewer per 1,000 (from 3 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
	Di	pyridamole	e-based dual ant	iplatelet theraj	oy versus mono	otherapy or no an	tiplatelet the	erapy	
Myocardial infarction	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.08 (0.57 to 2.01)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Cerebrovascular accident	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.70 (0.41 to 7.07)	2 fewer per 1,000 (from 7 fewer to 0 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Dialysis access thrombosis	2 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.94 (0.79 to 1.12)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
All-cause mortality	2 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 0.94 (0.76 to 1.16)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE
Major bleeding	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.022 (0.53 to 1.97)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 2 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE

Certainty Assessment								Effect	
Outcome	No. of studies	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other Considerations	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty
Non-major bleeding	2 randomised trials	serious _{f,h}	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	RR 1.10 (0.38 to 3.22)	1 fewer per 1,000 (from 3 fewer to 0 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW
Fatal bleeding	1 randomised trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^g	none	RR 0.13 (0.03 to 0.54)	0 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 0 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ MODERATE

CI: Confidence interval; **RR**: Risk ratio

Explanations

- a. Potential bias for selection of reporting
- b. Potential bias in outcome measurement
- c. Imprecise as confidence intervals include potential for important benefit or harm
- d. Wide variation of point estimates and high heterogeneity that cannot be explained
- e. Potential bias due to randomisation process
- f. Potential bias due to deviation of intention
- g. Optimal information size criterion not met
- h. Potential bias due to missing outcome data